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THE SECRETARY OF DEFENSE
WASHINGTON, D.C, 20301

15 June 1981

MEMORANDUM FOR THE RECORD

Subject: Interview with Mr. Donald Carpenter

On 12-~13 June 1981 I visited and interviewed Mr. Donald Carpenter
at his home on Hillendale Rcad, Mendenhall, Pennsylvanis, at which
time he dellvered Into my temporary custody his personal copy of his
YGempfubderredal Recollections of Washington, 1247-1949." I subsequently
took his copy te Washington and Xeroxed it for imclusion in the 0SD
History files,

During my Interview with Mr. Carpenter, I asked how and why he
came to write his "Recollections.” He explained that while he was
working in Washington in the late 1940s, he happened to be meeting
one day with Forrestal and Al Gruenther, Director of the Joint Staff.
Carpenter was not explieit on when the meeting took place, but gaid
that 4t was not long after someone in the Air Force
had published his World War II memoirs, which lauded the role of
alr power in winning the war. The Navy was in an upr .o Forrestal,
much distressed by the situation, elicited agreement Gruenther
and Carpenter wouldﬂgver write memolrs because they only caused
trouble. Some years later, however, after Forrestal's death, his
private "diaries'" were published., Carpenter said that at the time
the diarles appeared, he felt that Forrestal had gone back on his
word. He was not aware at the time, he sald, that Forrestzl's family
had arranged for publication without Forrestal's prior permission.

A few vears after that, Carpenter was visiting some friends who
kept dogs. One of the dogs gave him a severe bite on the leg, almost
severing a nerve. A vigorous tennis player at the time, Carpenter
found himself laid up in the hospital for months. He saild it was
a8 year before he recuperated. During this time, he decided he would
write his recollections.

There are at present two other copiles of the "Confidential Recol-
lections"~~the ribbon copy, which Mr. Carpenter deposited at the
Eleutherian Mills Historical Library, Greenville, Delaware; and
another Xerox copy at the Truman Library in Independence, Missouri.

At the time of our meeting in 1981, Mr. Carpenter did not feel the
existence of his "Recollectilons"” should be known generally. Our

agteasment-at—that time was that-l-could copy them and cite them as
part of my interview. Hence, they form an integral part of the inter-
view, but may not be referred to directly.
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It*s now more than eight years since I first went to
Washington in a so-called %official capacity." I've thought
i1t might be well to make notes of some of the interesting exper-

iepces-l had but have hesitated to do so for aseveral rsasons,

. They weﬁe not particularly unusual or interesting, many of them

were highly "classified", "secrat® or "top secret®, and X didn't
want to start on such a task because recaliing the past invar-
iably makes one's mind dwell on the past rathor than on the mors
important present and future,

Nevertheless, here I am on vacation at West Chop, Massa.
chugetts. .Ah injury prevents me from playing as much tennis as
I'd.li&e 80 maybe thié is as good 2 time as any, and time has dis-
posed of most secrats. Even the "H bomb"™ which we ﬁever mentioned

except in the Ybosom of our atomic family® is now a. byword through-

put the world,

Secretary Forreatal oh one occasion suggested to a few of us
that so many prominent officials had written memoirs about the war
that it might be as well if we didn't, Well, his diary has been
published and I don't propose to publish these,so jotting down a

?
fow items for my own satisfaction and for immediate famlly and

friends_can't be considered a violation of his suggestion, 5o

haere goes!

. In the late summer or early fall of 1847 I was, by request,
attending a meeting of the Board of Directors of Remington Arms
Company. During the meeting Freqlﬁeas, the Sacretary, told me I
had a telephone call, It was Ad¥iral Lewis Strauss who, by way of

introduction, told me we had met in cnnnection with some U.5.Ruhber

- — [T ——
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‘I’“\ He was calling to ask i/ I would attend a meeting of g ome

- sort of industrial group to advise the Atomic Energy Commission.
He hastily touched on the nature of the group and the members,
| All I cculd gather was that it seemed a bit vague but that the
nembership sounded like an industrial "WHO'S WHO."
While he held the line, T asked the advice of the Board
and as a result told Strauss I'd attend the meeting but without
any commitment that I would become a member of the group,
That night, much to my surprise, the radio carried a story
that Dave Lilienthal had appointed an "Industrial Advisory Group®
to the Atomic Energy Commission and among others I was to be a
member,
As I sat in the roof restaurant of the Hotel Washington a
‘.l\' . few days later 1ookipg over the c¢ity, which had beenlin such a ture
moilgduring the war but which had apparently returned to normal, 1
wondered if this meeting which I was about to attend wonld be just
an interesting contact or whether it would be a highly significant
| milestone, It proved to be the iatter.

At the meeting were Dr, Oliver Buckley, President of Bell
Laboratories; Dr, R, B. Wilson, President of Standard 0il1 of Ind-
iam; Dr. Gustav Egloff, Vice President - Director of Research
‘Universal 0i1 Products Company; James Parker, President of Detroit

. Edison, who was chairman of the group; Walker Cissler, Vice Pres.
- ———————of-Detroi-tEdisenysscretaryof—the—groupi—Dwfrct—Foste— Vice Pregs —
in charge of Research of Gulf 0il Company; Isaac Harter, Vice Pres.
of Babcock & Wilcox Tube Company; and Bruce Brown, President of
.\) Pan American Petroleum Company, We were told that Gerald Hunziker,
lead of the Department of Mechanical Lngincering and also of Aero-

nautical Engineering at M.I.T., and also chairman of the National

A¥rin+4nn Cramrdt Af trnrmtme srn Tl AT aee Tom a yasath man s 2 Naaw
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"F~7 The meeting was addresscd by Sumner Pike who gave a rambiing

- talk on patents in the atomic field, by Dr. Jim Flske who gave an
excellent outline of the science of atomic reactiens and by Dave
Lilienthal whose remarks as to what he hoped to accomplish through
the group were far from specific.

After the discussion 1t was suggested that we meet again at
Dak Ridge where we could gain greater familiarity with the prob.
iem, Ws wers very uncertain as to what it was all about. We ware
told we were "ad hoc", which I later learned meant temporary, and
that we were a “%@up" not a "committea.” I don't yet know the dif-
ference. We wondered if we were expected to submit a report--no one
gseemad to know so I, at leaat, and I presume saveral others also,
felt we‘might purgsue this matter a bit farther and expected that
‘I’ﬁ' through expert chairmanship the mission would be clarified. It
never was,

We went to Oak Ridge and saw the amazing diffusion plant
built and operated by the Union Carbide Company, also the labora-
tory operated by them, We saw the magnetic sapara{ion plant built
by ﬁastman Kodak and evidences of the thermal separation with its
huge boiler house, We saw the reactor bullt as a semi works by
du Pont prior to the huge Hanford installation,

We gnt some ideas as to how industrial contractors worked

with the commission and also how the community of Oak Ridge was

pperated-under—the-restrietions-of secrocy.—Hore was a diffdcult
problem-~running an entire village under most unusual circumstances.
How could a young scientist and his wife and children carry on in a

‘.}\ healthy manner when everything around them was owned and operated by

a governnent agency and when secrecy perneated the entire atmos-

pheret

LT~
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We saw "Nepa”", the Falrchild Aviation Company project on |
‘lbv nuclear propelled aircraft, Some saild this was a development of‘
QQB “utmost urgency and importance. Others sald it was a waste of time,
money, manpower and materials, '
We met several members of the "M.L.C." which we found was the
Military Liaison Committee., We sensed a certain lack of cooperation
between the M,L.C. and the A,E.C, Each seemed eager to tell us 1its
slde of the story without interference from the other., It was a bit
puzzling to us.
The group felt a trip to Hanford would lLe in order..-for how .
Enuld we comment intelligently without knowledge of our subject?
Although the A,E.C. didn't appear eager, still they arranged {or the
trip and most of us boarded a N.W, Airlines plane at Chicago bound
‘I. for Yakima, Waghington, and thence.to Hanford,

.-= There was atili no progress in clarifying the objectives of
the group and on that plane Bob Wilson began to assert sgme leader-'
ship suggesting to Jim Parker, our Chairman, that various aspects
of the report be assigned to different members, The idea seemed
to be favorably roceived and I was asked to 8 tudy énd‘report on
the organization of the A,E,C, in relation with its ability to deal
effectively with industfy. This subject had appeared to me to be
important, and tho more I saw of the cumbersome A.K.C, organization

the nore I felt effective industrial contact was hampered,

At Han£nndﬁws“sawwthsuhuga—p&&n%—buéi%~and~eﬁera%ea—hy~du~Pcnt—w~
but recently turned over to the General Electrie Company as a rasult

of the government's agreement with du Pont to relisve it aof any ra-

spongibility after the war was over,

e

We were impressed, of course, with the size and complexity

both of the scientific problems and also the commercial ones, ilere

again we saw a comrnnitv arehles hut 3¢ apomagd taes arofo than at
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less rigid, - |

We saw the serious problem of shortage of uranium and the
very low utilization of this precious material in the process. A
means of recovery or a less wasteful method seemed highly desirable.«
in fact it seemed about the most important feature of the entire
A B.C, oporation,

We found G.E. was working on this at Hanford, G.E. was also work:
on it at its Knowles N.Y. laboratory., Standard 011 Development Corpor-
ation was working on it at Bayonne, N.J., Blaw Knox was working on it
somewhera, Union Carbide was working on it at Oak Ridge. Lotas of
people were assigned to the problem-=sn many it seemed to verge upon
the hectic, and when I found that some of this activity reported in
to the Commigsion through the "director of Hanford operations®, some
through the "director of N.Y, operations®, some through the "director
of OgﬁARidge operations®, and snme through tha-nibéctor of Resesarch,
i féit_thera was a‘sad need of snme more sensihle approach to this
most urgent problem,

_ This further emphasized the importance of a change in the
A.BE.C, organization structure, Yere was a problem of greatest im-
portance reporting into the General Manager of the commpisgion through
four of his direct subordinates, |
A trip was made to the Knowlesg Lahoratory operated by the

General Electric Company just outside of Schenectady. It was a very

large and obviously expensive lapgratorys We picked—up—a-rumor—that—-
G.E. had agreed to nperatiﬁgzggﬂon the condition that the government
would permit them to build a nuclear laboratory at government expense,
In the lab we saw "NEPS". which was to be a nuclear means of
propulsion power of submarines. This project was more favorably rée-

gardad than NEPA because 1t was felt there was much more chance of

— e ——— e S TEREEEEEEE R
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success and that the approach to the problem was sounder, NEPA

seemed to have an atmosphere ofamateur ballyhoo about it.

As I drove my car through a hard snow storm from Schenectady
to Southport, Connecticut, I wondered what this group activity was all
about, The visits were very interesting but we didn't seem to have
any mlasion or leadership and I couldn't see that we were accomplishe
ing a thing.

Although I was devoting only about one day out of every two
weeks to this activity, the balance being on my regular dutics as
Vice President and Asst. General Manager of the Remington Arms Con-
pany, still I was aware that members of the company begrudged the
time I was spending and I was eager to get something done and pull
out, Others of the group began to feel this way also,

A nmeeting in Yew an& was held tn dig Into the buainess. of
the group. An agenda was prepared and circulated to the members,
Most of us, I am sure, attended with confidence that at last we wogld
accorplish something constructive, MNany of them had prepared their
sections of the proposed report and I had prepared wine,

The meeting was addressed in the morning by Mr. Cox of the
Naval Engineering firm of Gitbs & Cox. It was most interesting but
I couldn't see how it was a bit constructive., Irn the afternoon,
discussion rambled without any direction and the meeting adjourned,

We hadn't once referred to the agenda and we hadn't taken a single

) constructive action,

A few days later I wmet Tsaac Harter in New York to make a
direct contact with some officers of Union Carbide Company to ascerw
tain thelr views. Nothing significant developed. ‘

I met with Carrell Wilson, Genernl Manager of A,E.C., to oute
line my views of the A,E,C, organization. It seemed to me that when

he had so many apencles reportine direct to him there was lack of

f et f e -
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coordination., There was no one under him with sufficient scope of

action or authority and he, himéelf, could devots so little timé to

any individual or any problem or program that this situation was

proving to be a detriment to industrial cooperation. He didnt*t

appear to share my viewpoint. A year or so 1a ter, however, the organ-

jzation was changed very much along the lines I suggested,

Several other meetiﬁgs were held with no specific results.

One Saturday we met in Washington. €. K. Davis, President of
Remington Arms Co., phoned me that he had received a phone call from
Secretary Forrestal and suggested that I contact Dr, Vannevar Bush.

Y had known "Van" Bush for many years, He had been my teacher
of electrical engineering at M.I,T, and I'd met him several times
iater when he was Vice President of M.I.T.

I met him at the Coémos Ciub in Washington that afterncon. He
told me the Military Liaison Committee to the A.E.C, was. being reorgan.
ized; that it was to have a civilian chairman; that this individual
would alsn be chairman of the Committee on Atomic Energy of the Re-
gearch and Development Board and, further, that he would be Deputy
lto the Secretary of Defense on all atomlc energy matters, In other
words, he would be the top atomic cnergy official 1n the Military
Fatablishment, All military matters pertaining to atomic bombs or

any other atomic weapons, defenses or reactions would come under his

jurisdiction.

van told me Secretary Forrestal wanted me to take that job.

'

I was stunned.
At dinner with the members of the Atomic Energy Commission
that evening Lewls Strauss, a commissioner, and Carroll Wilson, G.X.,

urged me all through dinner to accept, Other members indicated thelr

gimilar desires. '

I took the sleeper and got out at New Haven on a very cold
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Sunday morning., It was cold vriving home and no one was awake, I
went up to our bedypoonm, undressed and climbed into bed., When Louise
awoke she was surprised to see me there, but I had a bigger surprise,
I told her to brace herself for the shock and recounted the previous
day's bombshell, Secretary orrestal wanted me to Le the top mili-
tary man on all atomic matters,

It was only two years after Hiroshima and Nagisaki, The
atomic bomd was held in universal awe, It was a mysterious monster
that most people hoped didn't really exist but they knew it did,

And here I was asked to take charge of tha military applications of
this monster for the most powerful nation on earth., 7T couldan't
quite grasp it.

That Sunday morning we went to church. We did a lot of hard
thinking, I talked it over with C., K. Davis., What should I do?

Agide from the awesome significance of the assignment, there
weére the considerations of what about my Jjob witﬁ Remington Arms
Company. True enough the request was for only six months to set
up the new organization dbut there was always the risk that it
might last longer,

Marcelius M, Dodge, Chairman of Remington, received a letter

from PForrestal outlining the urgency of the assignment, T

C.K. auggaéted that I go to Wilwington and talk with the

du Pont people which I did, I discussed the matter with Ruly Car-

penter, Walter, Jr,, Crawford Greenewalt, Charlle Cary, Tom Brown

and Bd Lincoln., I1 Seéhed obvious THAT they wers sorry the problem
had come up, but since it had, they felt the company should cooperate,
but the decision was purely my own.

Phone calls from Lewis Strauss, Carroll Wilson and Van Bush
urged me to accept, but I told them I hadn't yet decided, and that

there were mary negatives, The du Pont Company had tried hard to
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stay away from military implic tinns of :i; ﬁ&giﬁésgmin peacetiﬁe--
particularly atomic energy. Reminoton Arms had a good record dﬁring tr
war and hoped to keep it so, With my connection with both companies
and my name Carpenter there was a serious risk that unfavorable puba-
licity wnuid cme to du Pont, Remington and myself,

I had just about made up my mind to turn it down and was re
turning to Bridgeport, I had made the decision but felt-very un-
comfortable about it. Then the phone rang in Charlie Cary's office,
Colonel Hineé was coning to Wilmington to tell me something he could
not relay by phone. At the R.R,Station he told me the ieriin B%ock-
ade had tightenad, Decision had been reached to push through,and

General Clay had heen sent word to shoot if he must to get supplies

through to Berlin. Military authorities in Washington were alerting

for war, they expected it at once. The atomic bemb was their fore-

most weapon and the top military position on atomic matters was
vacafit awalting my decision and arrival, He urge& me to come at
once and take charge.

Although I had already intended to deciine, the combination
of my uneasiness at this decision plus the urgency rébresented to
me ﬁhich I was in position tn check at least partially hecaunse of
the contact I already had with the 4.E,C. and the'knowledge that
although there were many others probably better qualified than my-
self, still my industrial experience, education and A.E.C. contacts

were better than most and 1f T could report promptly it probably

won - ve—tepfut—to—tie—¥ititary-Bstabtishments—Ft—was—a—hard-doci~— -
ston but I made 1it.

T told Colonel Hinds I would come, but X would not come for
two weeks, The delay would permit C. K, Davis to retvrn from vaca-
tion bafore I left and it would force existing military officers to

make vital decisions in the emergency. I couldn't possibly be in

nacdtinm #n maba Fhnea cwdl? T e @ —q e e P R e R
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the entire subject, I had on further reservationi~ I wanted to

visit each atomic energy commlssioner, each service secretary .

and each military chief personally to ascertain if they approved

my appointment before I accepted. This T did and was universally

urged to accept,

There were many things to be done. I was to be on leave of
abgence without pay for six months. I would receive government
salary during that period. ¥e would rent our house furnished and
rent a furnished house in Washington, for in spite of the prospect
of a hot Washington summer, Lonise sald she'd come with me and move
down as soon as Judy (then age 9) was through school,

1.t, General Lesiie Croves who had headed the "Manhattan
Project" during the war was retiring as head of AFSWP {Afawap)
Armed Forces Special Weapons Project which was a tri=gervice
operation on all atomic activities left to the Military after the
A.E.C, was set up. His position was to be filled and General J.
Lawton Collins asked me if I would approve Colonel Kenneth Nichols
for this position, Igyet Nichols, learned a bit of his background
as Groves"daputy andiapproved. He was appointed and advanced to
tﬁe rank of Ma jor General.

At a meeting with Secretary Forrestal I told him I had
twelve (12) questions I would 1ike to have answered. He asked me
what they wers and he gave me twelve (12) answers within ten

minutes. Those answers still stick and I regarded his brilliance

——and—clartty-of-mind-as-amazing.

Forrestal asked me to come to dinner at his houss that
evening., There were about eight men there and by the end of the
evening I had identified all but one, a ¥r. Hopley. I couldn't
figure out what he was doing there, Later we drove back to our

hotels together and found that Forrestal was urging both of us to
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take a government gusignment, Right then and there we "formed a

union® and worked closely until he left Washington. Me had been
President of Northwestern Bell Telephone with home in Omaha, and
becane head of the civilian defense planning agency which issued
the "Hopley Report.® Although it was later quashed by Truman and
ignored by Symington, I believe 1t laid the foundations for this
vitally important activity. _

Departure from Remington wap with mixed emotions. True I
was to be gone only six months, but there was always the possibility
that the departure might be ﬁarmanent. At a reception held for me
on this occasion I felt very uneasy. These wera close friends and
business assoclates. We'd been throuph the depression, the New Deal
persecution and the war together. I was leaving them, but then agin,
maybe I wasn't, I was undertaking a responsibility the dimensions
of which were unknown. 1I'm afrald I wasn't as gracious as I should
have been. I was disturbed and I left, '

Dr. James Comant had been chairman of the committee on Atomic
Energy of the RDB, I talked to him bdbriefly in Cambridge as I was
to . be hils successor. He expressed his pleasure at my taklng over and
offersd every cooperation., 1t was obvious that he was happ; to be
relieved of this responsibility,

Louise had intended to go with me to pick out a house, but
at the last minute a bad back put her in the hospital. So I started

for Washington in my car alone,

At Princeton I lunched with Dr. Oppenheimer. 1 hadn't heard
much of him before but 1t was recommended that )1 seea him because of
his broad knowledge and experience in the atomic field and his posie
tion as chairman of the General Advisory Committee to the A.E.C.

He was most cordial and helpful, We had a long discussion

on the scientific aspects of atomic energy and he outlined the basic
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theories on atomic fusion as we'. as fission and mentioned the
huge potentialitiees in weapons utilizing the vast energy released from
th§ fusion of hydrogen,

In view of later disclosures on Oppenheimer's attitude toward
the “H.bomb“ it has seemed surprising that he should have voluntarily
taken that occasion back in 1848 to tell me of the potentialities,

As I drove south it was as if I were in a dream., The vast
g Ghénge in my personal affairs and the overwhelming regpongibilities
| had a sense of unrgality and I probably was quite bewildered when 1
finally arrived in Washington at midnight in a howling rain storm.

In order to set the record straight I wrote Forrestal that I
would receive no compensation from du Pont or Remington during my
tenure in Washington and that I was a director of Seneca Falls Machine
Company and a member of the‘Corporation of M.I.T. I would have absolute
1y npkyusiness connection with any of these organizations. I adviged
" him I owned some common stock in various industrial companies which X
. would be willing to disclose to him or anyone he might designate, I
did not wish to sell them because of the taxes I'd have to pay by so
doing but I promised I'd buy no more while on government duty, For-
regtal checked this latter with Tom Clark, Attorney General, and the
Chairman of the Armed Services Committee of the Senate and wrote me he
was satisfied,

I told him I was a Republican, that I was not in sympathy with

" many of Truman's administration policles and that I proposed to give

' my_opinion when asked. I told him I did not wish personal publicity
_ and would refuse it except on occasions when the job required it. He
was satisfied,

Secretary of the Army Kenneth Royall had invited me to dinner
with Far’res‘talJ John Sullivan, Secretary of the Navy, and Stu Syming-
ton, Secretary of the Air Force, 1 greatly appreciated the opportunity
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of meeting these officials, but nothing of any importance transa:

‘.F? pired, The fact that the dinner was held for we, however, indicéted
" the importance of the assigmment,

General Joe Collins invited Louise and me to vigit thelr home
in Washington to attend the reception for Gensral Omar Bradley when
he was.appointed Chief of Staff of the Army succeeding Eisenhower,
This was before I went to Washington and we were unahble to #ttend.

After dealing with Junior Officers during the war, I could
not but be impressed by the courtesies extended to us by secretaries
and "4 sgstar generalsh, ‘

At Secretary Royall's invitation I jolned his mess. There
were about forty (40) members consisting of the highest ranking
'afficeré and civilians of the army and a few members of the Secrew
tary of Defense's offices, ' It was a most interesting group., I
lunched there most of the days I was in the Pentagon althougﬁ I
latér‘joined Secretary Symington's mess at his invitation and 1upched

é’ there on a few cccasioﬁs.

- These coﬁtacts were both pleasant and very helpful, Here I
could talk on an informal basis with the top members of the Military
Establishment, Individuals who come to mind as most interesting and
congenial are Ken Royall, Ike Eisenhower, Omar Bradley, Joe Collins,
Gerry Persons, Gordon Gray, Bill Draper, Arthur Hill, Jack Ohly,
Bi1l McNeil, Tracy Voorhees, Ferd Eberstadt, Stu Symington, Fouieg
Spatz, Hoyt Vandenberg, Art Barrows, Al Wedemeyer, Laurie Norstad,

etc,

The atomic tests were to be held in Einewetok in the Pacific.
" . Beneral Hull was in command and Rear Admiral Deke Parsons was his
deputy. Parsons suggested that I nttend these tests and in prepar-
ation T took a cancentrated series of "shots.," I'm afraid that

they added further to my rather confused state of nmind and were
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partially to blame for my g¢acrallack of energy and enthusiasm

upon arrival at Washington. To offset this feeling 1 took heavy
dogses of vitamins prior to important meetings, They helped but
the later reaction was very enervating,

Due to the critical situation of the Berlin blockade, my
presence in Washington was more important than a visit to Einewe-
tok, so the huge flying boat, the "MARS", which was set up by
the Navy for me was not used,

My office in the Pentagon was an excellent one, very close
to Forrestal's and I was assigned an excellent secretary, Miss
Rosik, and a superb aid, Commander "Dick" Ashworth, My staff

consisted of a tri.service group of about forty officers under

- the direction aof Dick as director of the staff,

At the time of my arrival in Washington all members of the
Military Liaison Committes were at the Einewetok tests, This
‘gave me an excellent 6pportunity to become familiar with the prob=-
lemsg prior to their return, In this, Dick Ashworth was an inwvals
uable assistant,

The M.L.C, was created by statute., It came about because
éenator Vandenburg had been fearful that the A.E.C. might be un-
mindful of the military requirements of atomic energy in which
case the M.L.C. had the right to file its objections directly with
the President. This made the M.L.C., a sort of "kibvitzing" orpgan-

jzation rather than a creative one, The A,E.C. gave it all the

o

information 11 requested, buf was always apprehﬁﬁ“i?ﬁ*‘f‘jﬂﬁr‘*—**"
""‘-4--.............-: -

NETEERITRRIY BT s g pa i Vb TR AER e

actions, ﬂn the other hand the members of M,L.C. weoere always on

e ——————

the lookout for gaps in the A.E.C, program which might adversely

affect national defense,

It was a situation fraught with possibilities of jealousy

and discord, and I felt these emotions existed in substantial

A evyinn
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Added to this was the strong feeling whicﬁ7e§¥sted batwaen

~ the Military and the scientists of A.E.C. It was said, and with
some truth, that members of the A.E.C. thought all military officers

"were damn fools and officers thought all A.E.C. people were damn
crooks., This was an exaggeration, of course, but still there were

strong feelings,

Forrestal, sensing this situatinn, told me my job was to
Mhmmm a . bl b tmpdal

bring about ¢lose coogeration. He pointed out that the Military

e

was held responsible for the defense of the country, and its most

important weapon was manufactured and held in custody by a civilian
organization over whom the Military had no authority, and with
whose members the military officers were not on speaking terms, It
was my job to clear this up,

This was a very difficult problem but it vwas lurther com-
plicated by the tri.service rivalry within the M,L.C, itself. This,
I fhought, must be cleared up first for how couid we expect cooper-
ation from others if we didn't have cooperation among aﬁrselves?

There were six officers on the M.L.C.,, two from each sger-
vice, I was asked to approve all these appointments, I advised
tﬁat I wanted specific recomeendations from the three military
chiefs, each recommending two men from his service. These men were,
howsver, to have important operational assignments at the same time,
I made this requirement for two reasons, first to make certain they

recommended a man of real ability, and Second to make certain he was

I €Yase contact with his service's activities, On this basis a few
previous members had to be replaced,

We had an excellent group of men., They were Ma jor General
Kenneth Nichols and Colonel John Hinds of the Army; Rear Admirals
Parsons and Oftsie of the Navy; and Lt, General Louis Brereton and

Brig, General "Bim" Wilson of the Air Force, General Brereton was

o O T . - e * 9 + ~ e~
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There was great jealod;y between the three:aeryices. If an

Army representative proposed an acfion, the Navy an&,%?e Alr Forca
must both have a say in it. The Army generally Wﬁéﬁsympathetic
with the interests of the Air Force, but the Navy was suspicious of
both, pafticularly the Air Force. The Navy had its own aviation
service., The Navy "Flat Tops" and planes ﬁad been vital factors in
our victory at sea. They were afraid the Air Force would be told
to operate all planes in all services. In this case the Navy would
get a most serious sethack,

| The Navy had opposed unification and since the unification

law was passed the Navy was "dragging its feet," Almost every time

-------- T i
a unification program was sugrpested you could count on the Navy

it e U RREPIEE N T -

S0 here on the MN,L,C. we had geriously discordant elements,
let alone the bad situnation with the A.E.C, HHow could we tackle thi-
problem? On this, Dick and I studied for the two weeks prior to the
raturn of the group from Einewetok.

When they returned we held our first meeting which was con-
ducted strictly under parliamentary procedure, We were there for
bﬁainess not to just talk,

I thought that 4if we could assign each member a specific
function which he was to handle for the group he would become so
occupied with the development of his assignment that substantial

progress would be made and service bickering and jealousy would

diminish.

1 proposed this procedure and to illustirate my point I suggest
ed the following assignments:
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General Nichols, Arﬁy - Production of fissit:éble materials
Colonel Hinds, " Security ’

Admiral Parsons, Révy

Weapon Desi gn Page determinad to be Uncléssiﬁed
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General Brereton, Alr Porce -~ Personnel

General Wilson, 7 " = Atomic Power

Theﬁ the fur began to fly, The Air Force recognized Parsons! ability
as a weapons designer but the atomic bomb was of primary interest
- fo the Air Force so they should have a deputy with Parsons. Cone
versely, the Navy must have a deputy on Atomic Power because atomic
gubmarines were vital to the Navy,
The Army had to have deputies in both activities. So it went

‘and soon it seemed that all three services woﬁld have to be repre-
sented on each function., - This would, of course, completely defeat
the objeétive and make things worse than they had been. So I sug-
gested they think it over until the next day, and in thinking it
over try to deci&e one question "Do you want to trust each other
and run an efficient operation, or can't you trust each other?"

_ The next day we met and approved ths procedure. It worked,
service bickering practically stopped. Each member was so conscious
of his tri.service responsibility that he leaned over backwards to b:
sure that he was fair to the others, On a few occasions when the
newspaper headlines told of fighting between the services, the

M. L.C, members would chuckle and point out that we had no such

fights ?heyﬁbegan—%ﬂ—%ake—pride~fn~our~sat:up—which*thuy*saidf"**——

was the only one like it in Washington., We were malking progress.
The M.L.C. and its staff had a very low "esprit de corps."

It badly needed a psychological "build-up,"” Its activities had

lacked importance and significance and an M.L,C. appointment had

not been a mark of recognition-.more nearly it was a "side-traclk,"
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The entire activity needed sclfrespect. To start with we reqﬁestad

General Gruenther, director of staff for the all-powerful J.C.S, (Joir
Chiefs of Staff) to give the X,L.C, a briefing on the war plans,
This seemed a revelutionary move for only the hiphest officials
ever saw the war plans, But war plans must necessarily contem-

plate atomic weapons and defenses and this was M.L.C. business,

"30 why shouldn't we be briefed? Ve shauld}and We werae.,

From time to tiwme military chilefs or service secretaries
would agk me of the status of certain activities, 1 invariably

referred these inquiries to the M.L.C. member who was advisor on

the subject, This helped to reflect the importance of their assign.

ments,

In various ways we tried to build up mﬁrale and 1t was grat-
ifying later that the services occasionally requested the oppor-
tunity of making new appointmenta to the M.L,C,. or its staf'f,

- One such request was from Secretary Symington. He sent gz
letter to me requesting that Dick Ashworth, a Navy man, be replaced
by an Air Force man as director of the M.L.C. astaff., The reason

he gave was that the Alr Force was the service most interested in
atomic energy. I didn't agree with his reasoning, I didn't think

it appropriate that Dick be replaced and I resented such a request
from a service secretary., I didn't want to turn it down categorical.
ly so I took Symington's letter back to him and asked him to withe
draw it, He did.

I-made-manyirips—to-become—familiar with-A B+Cr—and-mite——
itary atomic activities. With Nichols I flew to a faréway point

to inspect the construction of a depot for storing atomic weapons,

I presume its location and construction are still classified so I

cannot comment on where I went or what I saw or what suggestions

I made,
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On another trip I .topped in on another installation
which is 1ittle known to the pudlic, I'm tempted to comment on
it as it was of great interest, but security prevents me. An-
other trip was to make a more thorough review of Oak Ridge,
taking in the gaseous diffusion plant, the laboratory, the re-
actor with its output of radioactive isotopes for industrial
use and the NEPA operations.
It seemed time to come to grips with this NEPA situation.
The fairchild Aviation Company under leadership of J. Carleton
Ward were making heroic efforts to accelerate this activity,
The concept of an airplane propelled by an atomic reactor which
- could fly around the world without stopping and carrying atomic
bombs was represented as a No. 1 objective. On the other hand,
many people pointed out that the activity was poorly conceived
and poorly manned, that nuclear fuela were too scarce to risk
“in a plane, that if such a plane were shot down over enemy
territory it would reveal many important secrets, that t he
weight of the reactor and the necessary radiation shielding
was excessive for a plane and that the whole business was a
. waste of time. This activity, being atomic power, came under
General Wilson's responsibilities, e arranged for a complete
briefing of the M.L.C, and some of its staflf by the NEPA organ-
ization. When 1t was over we were confused but still skeptical,

We had General McCormick with us. He was director of military
applications of the A.E.C. T helieve ha was also skeptical,After

this the A.E.C. arranged with the Massachusetts Institute of Tech.
nology to review the activity and M.I.T. appointed Walt Whitman
who was head of the Department of Chemical Engineering to head up
the investigation, It seemed 1ike a good idea, but the NEPA
people immediately set up a protest and tried to discredit the
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study before it started, Thi: I didn't like and told Ward and
his assoclate Richardson that I couldn't look with favor on a con-
testant who tried to discredit the umpire before the game started,
The results of the study came out later and the opinion was eXe
pressed that with existing knowledge of radicactive dosages and
shielding, airplane propulsion by atomic energy was not feasible
and must awailt substantial development in bafh the science and
engineering before it would be worthy of substantial activity. This,
I believe, slowed this activity down or may have stopped it com-
pletely. I have heard recent rumors that lead me to suspect that
the work may have been reactivated in light of new developments.
I don't believe it i1s being done under the same management.

Many members of the M.L.&. organization had engaged in very
important phases of the Manhattan Project during and after the war.
Admiral Parsons was the bomb commander who dropped the atomic bomb
on ﬂiroshima. Commander Ashworth was bomb commander at Nagasaki,
}ﬂhny had been at Alwagordo, Host of them had been at Bikini and

~at Einewetok. The tales of the early days of atomic development
would make fascinating reading in themselves but have no place here.
‘ Shortly after I assumed my position as chairman of M.L.C.
and Deputy to the Secretary of Defense for Atomic Energy a crisis
loomed. . In the Pentagon they called such a crisis a "swivel,™
Many scientists went to the Einewetok tests, It was cone

sidered very important that these tests be conducted in great se.

crecy, and the scientists were asked to conduct themselves accord-

Ingly. Since they were eager to divulge scientific information
resulting from the tests, they were told that they could meet with
the press and make radioc broadcasts on these matters after the
tests had been completed and when they reached Pearl Harﬁor on the

way home, Under these circumstances they cooperated fully, although

they waers wvopry smandedfanae af mititarr nfficiala. Cenaral Hull who
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was in command of the expedition, did an excellent job in gaihing

and holding their respect.: 1“heard some of them say that all miii-
tary officers were stupid except, of course, Genmeral IHull who was
an exception,

It was left that publicity could be released about two days
after the tests, and everyone secemed satisfied., DBut then the mate
ter got out of hand., I believe it may have started at a neeting
of the War Council when someone expressed apprehension that this
publicity release would be very helpful fo the Rusgsiansg in their
activities on detection of Atomic explosions. We had our means of
so doing--they probably were working along this 1line also and to
give them information on a blast within 48 hours of 1ts occurrence
might help them greatly, so the pre-arranged plan of releasing
publicity was in jeopardy,

I was called for a hasty review, Most officers with know-

-

lédée and experience in these matters were at Einewetok but I cone
ferred with General Nichols who did not seem much concerned and
then with Admiral (then Captain) Tom Hill who headed the Navy's
atomic activity (Operation 88) in Admiral Parsons' absence, He
was mightily concerned,

I discussed the matter with the full commission (A.E.C.)
except Barker who was at the tests, They thought the nilitary was
too apprehensive. So did ¥, but I wasn't certain , Ffinally, it

wound up that the Army and Air Force were satisfied to let matters

stand A% arranged and permit the publicity release, but the Navy
was bitterly opposed, Forrestal left the final decision to me, I
would have opposed the Navy position, but knowing my inexperience
in this field and believing that in case of doubt the position favor.
ing security should be preferred I ruled that there should be no pub-

licity release at Pearl Harbor and had this word sent to General Hull.
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What a protest came from the Paaificf The t eletype worlked
hard and long until late at night, I asked Tom Hill to handle the
matter since it was the Navy whose position was prevailing. At one
occasion I overheard a question as to what authority I had to issue
such an ordar, I placed om tep of my desk a letter from Forrestal
delegating to me all his authority in this field and left the offilce
"tﬁ get a cup of coffee,” When I returned the orders had been is-
sueﬁ. 1 knew Tom Hill and others had seen the letter.

There was no publicity at Pearl Harbor, the Navy's position
prevailed for‘whaf it may have bheen worth, but great damage was
done., The feeling of the scientists towards the military boiled
over. One said he'd never go into the Pentagon again as long as he
1ived., Another declared he'd naver again trust a man in uniform,
and so it went~-the situation which was already bad became critical,

Whaf could be done about 1t?

A few weeks later when some of the high blood pregsure had

subsided Y sold Forrestal on the idea of a dinner honoring the

scientists and military officers in charge of the tests. He rather
reluctantly agreed if I'd arrange it. I did, or rather Dick Ash-
worth did, although he sald he had to study a lot of protocol to
gset up a dinner for "all the brass.”

It was to be a top secret meeting Saturday evening in the
Pentapon. The rooms were to be completely guarded with guards

with "Q clearance." {A.E.C, clearance) In the room we had a display

of maps, d iagrams, and pictures pertaining to the Einewetok testis.

Cocktails were served by mess boys with Q c¢learance who zlso served
the dinner, Invitations were sent in Forrestal's name to the three
Service Sedretaries, to the three Military Chiefs, to Admiral Leahy,
the President's Military Advisor, to the five Atomic Energy Commis-

sioners, to the General Manager of A.E.C., tot he members of the M.L.
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and to General Hull and his cdaputies and Dr, Frohman|, g@%rk, :

Graves,-«the top scientisfs. Some of these latter at first r;_
fused to come, but Dave Liljenthal, Chairman of A E.C., reque;tad
them to attend, It was a stormy night. I wasn't certain how many
of "fhe brass" would attend and I had many "hostess pains." Would
this be a complete farca or would it do the trick?

Ons by one the guests arrived, all drenched by rain, I was
delighted tosee them-~they all came, every one., When Dr. Frohman
arrived, very suspicious and very much on his guard, he was promptly
introduced to Secretary Forrestal and asked tc explain the mnaps,
dlagrams, etc. to the Secretary. Similarly, Dr. Clark was asked
to explain the operation to General Bradley, and each scientist
was conducting and explaining and gatherihg about him groups of
Cénerals, Admirals and Secretaries, It was difficult to break it
up for dinner, Dick told me the seating was a real problem.-how
shopld a Commissioner rank with a Secretary? How should I rank-.
that was the tough one. That was easily solved, however, for I
told Pick to seat ne at the very foot of the table and I'd perform
the introductions from theras,

General Hull gave a brief report, then each of the scientists
and Dave Lilienthal., Wwhen the scientists left I heard them say
this isn't such a bad nutfit after all., It had worked,

Louise had intended to po with me to Washington to find a
house but a bad back prevented her from coming, I first stopped
at the Ilay Adams House for a few days and then moved to "1718 H"

at the invitation of General Frank McCoy, an old firiend of Uncle
Ed's. Uncle Ed had been a member of "The Family" at 1718 H when
he was in Congress in 1925.

It was an unusual little place, Jameé and Julia ran it.
There appeared to be no rules. Membership could be determined by

the silver goblaets on the shelf over the firepiace., each one of
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At breakfast,'fhe on}y'ﬁeal which was served there, I met
one or two members each morning, They only stayed for_ a daylor so
and were gone, A most interesting group they were, Patchinkof Unit
Fruit Coﬁpany;“ﬁarrison, Ambassgsader to Switzerland; Dr.
from Boston; Hershel Johnson, Ambassador to Brazili Joe Grew, Under
Secretary of State; Walter Howe, an attorney in Washington; Eliot
Wadsworth; Joe Alsop, a news commentator and writerj Frank McCoy,
Retired Army General who was in charge of the Far East Commission
of the State Department.

I had occasion to bring a few associates to 1718 H and they
were both surprised and pleased to find such a place existed, It
had a bit of "old world" touch to it, ‘

Wives could stay. only when with thedr member husbands and the
‘only in the “1ceb9x“, a suite of rooms on the top floor completely
-saparated from the reat of the bﬁilding. Louigse came to stay with
me a few times,

The house wasg empty much of the time so I had the place to
myself. I got my evening meals at the Metropolitan Club.

‘ One Saturday evening I was quite lonely and phoned my old
acquaintance, Admiral Harold Stark, who used to live in Wilkes-
Barre and who had been Chief of Naval Operations, As soon as he
heard my voice on the phone he sald "Why Donald, what are yon
doing there, don't you know you should he out here with ust" I

went and had many pleasant visits in Harold and Kitty's beautiful

home, They were very kind tn Loulse, Judy and me, and their
. kindness meant a great deal to us,
' Forrestal enjoyed tennis, so did General Gruenther and so
did I, so we got together frequently. General Court Schuyler
cf ten made a fourth, We would play at the Fort Leslie McNair
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Al Gruenther and I plaved singles together on Saturday at
11 A.M., then we'd have ﬁ sanﬂkich and a beer served by Grace {
Gruenther at their home and return to our offices in the Pentagon,
" There was generally much comment in the mess room at Monday lunch
as to the outcome of the Saturday'’s game. We had a lot of fun
and did a lot of kidding. |

Porrestal also 1liked Nadminton and T played with him in v/
the St, Albants school pgymnasium. One time we were to have a
foursome but only the two of us turned up so w2 played singles.
Anything he did he did with all his energy, so we played hard,
It was a strenuous game and when we sat wringing wet on the bench
in the locker room I thought neither of us should play that hard,
buf at least it had taken his mind off of his work. Just then
he looked up and said "Don, what are we going to do about the Air
Foree Budget?" Even a game such as that comldn't take his thoughts
away from his heavy duties,

He was a dynamo of energy and amazingly keen and decisive,
He followed a killing routine. He would frequently breakfast at
7130 or 8 A.M, in his office mess room with some important visitor
who was arriving in Washington hy sleeper. He would discuss im-
portant affairs with his visitor and then hold his morning staff
meating whichwould be very quick and snappy, asking cach member
individually what items he had and answering them on the spot. If

an item appeared to require a bit of discussion, the individual

would get his answer after the meeting.

Then he would start with his appointment schedule, Most
people in Washington run their appoinitments on a l5-minute«schedule
hut Forrestall's seemed nore like an anpointment every 5 minutes.
This called for keen concentration, judgment and decision, partic-

wlariyv so hecause the only vigsitora to see hinm were thase whose
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business had already been discussed with junior officials and had
to go to Forrestal for cnnsidaration. Other callers might be some

0ld friends or distinguished officials.
At 11 he might go out for a game of tennis for an hour and

At this lunch he might in-

return for lunch with a few Senators.
vite someone in his departiment who was particularly concerned with

At the end of lunch he would issue a "coffee callt

the diséussion.
to some of his associates to come to his lunch table to learn of
T was frequently called for both lunch and

the decisions reached,
teoffee call,”

In the afternoon he might attend meetings of the Munitions
Board, the Research and Developmént Board, the Joint Chiefs of Staff,
or others, On these occasions he would ffequently introduce a new

viewpoint for discussion and leave requesting that he be informed

of the group opinion or decision,
Frequently during the day he would be called to The White

House, to congressional hearings, or to other government agencies,
His time was so fully occupied that if we wished to see him on an
urgent matter which couldn't be handled by the "intercom", his sec-

retary, Kate Foley, would tell us to get into his car at a certain
time and we would discusse our problems with him as he was driven

ntd

$4:

¢ .. to or from one of theae meetings.,
- At 8ix he would frequently have cocktails served at his

g

£,
house at which time members of the press might be invited for off-
They would leave and another guest or two

i
the-record discussion.
would appear for dinner to discuss some philosophical problems, If

something of interest to one of his associates came up he might
Loulse and I were so called on

gsend out a "Scotch and Soda call."
a few occasions,
After his guests had left I have seen him pick up his trief

cage and his driver would drive him hack to the Pentarmon.
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What a 1ife! I've neveér seen a man under so much pressure

and more conscientious, He thouht he could stand it for a couple of

years when he intended to retire turning his office over to someone
He thought 1f he took regular exercise he could live through

&

else,

it. He tried despyately to f ind people in whom he had implicit con.
fidence to work with him so he could give them complete responsibil.
I bew

He was able to get very few,
He delegated to me every authority

ity and thus relieve himself,

lieve I was one and felt honored,
-he himself possessed in my field of operation, He supported me on
I*ve never had a superior who appeared to repose so

every occasion,
of the most helpful moves Van made was to get me to come to Washing.

ton. Perhaps so, I hope so anyway for I had great admiration and

much confidence in me, I'm told that he once told Van Bush that one
ﬁffection for the man who was so right and fought so hard against

such odds that his health cracked and he committed suilcide.
. Many people bhlame Drew Pearson for Forrestal's collapse, others
All

e
blame tri-service bickering. Some say it was family anxieties.
these contributed but, in my opinion, his greatest anxlety came from
the attitude of the Navy in opposing unification and the attitude of
Stu Symington in constantly accusing him of partiality for the Navy.

‘The Army and Secretary Royall seemed to be the only service to give

£
gg-gh him good support.
égégé: . But I've gotten ahead of my story. During the time T was
gggéj _head of X.L.C. he was very active and vigorous.
q‘?’§§§ Forrestal appointed me as his deputy on the "Combined Policy
Committee.” I'd never heard of it and it was difficult to find out
_ anything about it. It had apparently resulted from the Roosevelt -
.\ Churchill meeting at Quebec when the U.S. had undertaken the raspon~
'sibility for atomic development and the committee was formed to main-
tain-contact between England, Canada and the United States., There
was a scientific sub eroeun on which T was annainted ng a membher.
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The first meeting was at'ended by Under Secretary of State

Bob Lovett, Dave Lilienthal, Carroll Wilson, Canadian and British.

There was only one meeting held when I was there

T repregentatives,
It seemed pretty

and I never had a very clear idea of its activities,

fuzzy to me,
Back to my big problem ~ to obtain cooperation between the

Miiitary and the A.E.C. scientists, One way to implement cooperation

‘is to establish common objectives. This I started to do. First, we

had to find out what were the most important development projects and

who was working on them and whére. The research reports being sent in

to the A,E.C., headquarters from their various laboratories were very

aketchy. It seemed to me they told only a small part of the story.

The écientists had "pgone underground” since the creation of the A,E.C.

‘and because of the long investigation and debate when Lillenthal was

.\‘ “ appointed chairman of .the commission, The men were working quietly

but ho% tellding much about their activities, Thus military labora-

tories were duplicating work in A.E.C, labs, without any exchange

“of information, I suspected there might be similar blind duplica-

tion .betweaﬂ AoEoc. labs,
Before we could lay out a program of long range objectives

assified

WHS |
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we woitld have to find out what work had been done and what was under

way.
This was proving to be quite an undertaking which we would

T felt the Committee on Atomic Energy

ey
ey

- have to organize to handle,
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conalsted of the M.L,C, members and in addition I appointed a lead

ing scientist in chemistry, Dr. Conant, and one in physics, Dr. Op-
I also appointed a leading industrialist in these two

9

A penheimer,
fields, Charles Thomas of Monsanto and Bill Hosford, retired Vice

Pregident of Western Electric Company. It was a strong committee.

!
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g
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For the immediate job Y :npointed :misgﬁpcgngQiee on long

‘lr; ‘range objectives," This included Oppenheimer, General Kichols, Ad-

- miral Parsons, General Wilson and also Harry Winne, Vice Prasidenf
in charge of atomic activities of General Electric, and George Fel-

" beck, Vice President of Carbide & Carbon Chemicals Compény.

To get into the problem we chartered a C-54 (DC-4 type) plane
and all of the above group except Conant who was in Europe,started
west, We visited the Iniokern operations, Here we weres told by the

) regsident scientists of their activities. At the end of the day we
had a general discussion on the work in progress and its ilmportance,

. We then flew to Moffett Fleld where we attended the meetings of the
NACA (National Aviation Council of America)‘where the menbers of that
huge laboratory described their work. Then to the University of Cal-

Jifarnia Radiation Laboratory at Berkeley where Dr, Ernest Lawrence

‘I}y ~ and his asaistant Cooksie and Pr, Seaborg told us of their work, Then

%o tha?ﬁaqy work on decontamination and other matters at Treasure Is-
land and Alameda, Then to Hanford with Ernest Lawrence golng with as.

At Hanford we dug intn the progress being made on the recovery

and yield problem, Progress seemed very slight since my last visit
there; We looked into it hard and called nn‘tha group to turn outat
8 o'clack Sunday morning to go over it with us., I'm told this was
‘quite a surprise and a stimulant to the people there as they had ex-

* pected just a routine military inspection.

A Ay We then flew back and on the plane the basis of the findings

and recommendations were roughed out for Dr. Oppenheimer to prepare

a full report, I insisted upon one recommendation, i.e. that the re-

Y port should be reviewed every six months. I did this as I wanted to
.N‘._ make certain that the program recommended would not be too rigid,

. The report was drawn and appraved by the sub zorcittee, then

by the Committee on Atomic Energy of the Research & Development Board,

ther hvy the M 1. ... he the J .0 S hr the Har Coannedl ond the 7
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prepared to go ahead,
fact ona of the most serious shortages was skilled manpower,

ment and members of A.B.C. began to cooperate better,

" direction of The President,
be held in custody by the A,E.(., and delivered to the military only

when use was ordered by The Prasident.,

; . itary deeply resented it,

Here we had a program‘3f long range military objectives

ﬁhich had been approvaed by the highest authorities, We were now

There was plenty of work for everyone, in
From

thén on it seemed to me that the members of the Military Establish.

I felt we were

on our way to the type of relationship we desired,

There was one other major source of irritation, however,

that was the question of who should hold custody of atomic weapons,

The law provided that atomic weapons could be used only upm
There was an inference that they should

It wasn't clear and the mil-

They couldn't understand why they werentt

trusted to store the atomic bombs. They were very critical of the

manner in which the A.E.C, stored them. They were critical of the

A.E.C. personnel charged with the immediate responsibility. Why

should 2 dreamy young A.E.C. scientist who might he a conscientiaus

objector be trusted with "the keys" when a competent ganeral respon-

11 2 A L g P .

% B sible for the defense of the country was not? There was much merit
E;—i’; £ 1in their position. | ™ b e o e g e ey
§§;§j s At the first meeting of the M,L.C, that I attended, even be-
§§§§} - fore I became chairman, I was asked my views on this subject. I
gggéi‘ kmew llttle of it so merely said "I think 1ts a good idea to keep

- eE<g your powder dry," That seemed to satisfy them for the time. But

‘l'.

L

later I dug into it furthef.
I investigated the A.E.C. custody procedure, their storage
facilities, their "chain of command" for delivery to the military.
‘ I checked the military "chain of command" in receiving the weapon

I studied the law, discussed the implications of a
Inder Secretary of State.

and using 4t,

chanre In onstndvy nrocedure with Rah Tovett,




_ be held in custody by the military but that a dual chain of command

. should be established, The Secretary of Defense could give the order

. : ' 3z.

" discussed the problem with the Joint Chiefs of Starf, Van Bush and

drew up a "statement of issues" outlining all agpects of a transfer¢'

From this I arrived at the conclusion that the weapons should

for withdrawal from storage but the order would have to go down through ‘

two separate chains of command to prevent any single officer short of
the Secretary of Defense from issuing the order on his own,

If I could get agreement from the A.E.C. to transfer custedy,
it could probably be easily arranged, but 1f the decision must be made
by The President I hoped it could be presented toa him as a joiht recome=
mendation of both miltitary and A.E.C. The problem then was to sell the
idea to the A.E.C.

-A vigit to a custody site was arranged, All A.E.C. commissioners
and all N.L.C. members were to attend. At the last minute Lilienthal de~
clined ng_the four others went. We jointly inspected the storage site,
the pérsonnel charged with protection, security, and transfer.

| On the plane returning I tried to get the commissioners to agree
{o a transPer of custody. They held the opinion, however, that no change
éhouid be made but agreed to a presentation to The President at which time

" each group would pregent its position,

I then presented my position to Forrestal who studied 1t and asked

me to draw up a recommendation to The President,

This was a difficult document to prepare, I knew The President
was very busy and, therefore, the document should be brief and to the

point, It should speak solely from the standpoint of national securlty

" but at the same time minimize the effects on international relations and

domestic reaction. Forrestal approved the document and asked me to make

- the presentation to The President,

On July 21, 1948, (Forrestal Diary-Page 460) Forrestal, Royall,
Symington and X, representing the Military Establishment, and Lilienthal,
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Weymark, Pike and Barker, renrese'ting the Atomic nergy Tommission,

met with The President in The White louse. I presented the militafy
position and handed the President the statement I had drawn., Lilien-
thal then presented objections on what I thought were very intangible
bases. The Président appeared to listen intently and then stated that
the uge of the bnmb could he ordered only by himself and he did not oro-
pose to delegate this responsibility, Ie did not comment on custody so
'iwe left wondering what his decision might be,

Several days passed and then one nf the President's assistants
bréught me a wﬁite House press release for comment, Tt clearly indi.
cated that-the President had turned down our recommendation. I took
it.atlonce to Forrestal who had not beon Informed of the President's
decision. He was very disappointed with the decision and annoyed that

the information came to him 4in such an indirect manner. He agked me if

I didn't think he should Teaign, sayinv he thought that more govern-
[ . "‘""‘”“"“"‘“ﬁ-—,—.—.——-———mm._._____'_______

T mnateiahan, T VRPN LS

ment officials should resign when their viewpnints were thus disregarded.
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I wrged him not to.
.WM’

I drew up directives for Forrestal to issue immediately to vare
ious military agencies to provide for maximum efficiency in handliing
atomic.weapons even though the A.BE.C, retained custady, ’

Although the A.E.C. won the decision, the whole affair had cen-
tx::ﬁJﬂsé much attention on their shortcomings of custody and transfer
that they tock effective steps to obtain maximum efficiency. The outw

come was a vastly improved procedure even though the A,E.C, retained
custody.

By this time Loulse and Judy had moved tog Washington and we
were living in a delightful o0ld house owned by Rev, Hatch Sterrett,
Mrs, Sterrett was apprehensive about renting her house furnished with
many interesting old pleces of furniture and china but after hearing

that our house in Connecticut was also old she was willing.




. ‘age determined to be Unclassified
’ Reviewed Chief, RDD, WHS
- IAW EO 13526, Sectic»éb?, 5 34,
pae ofp 17 3

We were very specific about the term of lease., It was to 5e
.\ until October 1st, I had started April 1st and was going to return
S home in six months, that meant October 1st. I was very definite on
that point and made it known in all my contacts that I would leave on
October 1st,

The house was on Springland lane in a grove of woods right in

the middle of the city behind the Bureau of Standards., I believe it
. was one of a very few which stood between Washington and Chevy Chase
years ago. _

Here our social life wasg very qulet, We didn't know many people
and my government position being brand new didn!'t "rate" in the official
protoéol, so we had few callers or invitations. We did, however, enter-
tain several friends who came to Washington. I recall Ernest Lawrence,

‘ Charlie Thomas, Carleton Ward, Bill Hosford and a few Washington people-
.\ Mr. and Mrs, Forreéta]., General and Mrs. Frank McCoy, Harold and Kitty
' Stark, Freddie Hyde, General and Mrs. Al Gruenther, Rus and Helen Hopley
and a few others.

The Atomic Energy Act was confusing on the intent of Congress

“relative to our disclosure to the British of technical information of
military significance. To understand the meaning of Congress, Forregtal
called a meeting with Senator Vandenburg, Senator Hickenlooper, Commis-
sioner Strauss, Van Bush and wyself to review the intent on this matter,

(See Forrestal Diary-Page 471).

- The discussion did not clarify the situation but confirmed the

—————confusiom: I had been tipped oIt by theNavy oM (Office of Naval —TIr=
formation) that there was "something wrong at Harwell," They didn't

.\ quite know but they suspected a leak of vital secret information come
ing from the British atomic laboratory . llarwell., Here was a very sers
lous situation. Our own position was confused and we suspected a leak,

Under the circumstances I recommended tn Forrestal that we immediately




T
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stop sending the Dritish further atomic information until the situation

was clarified, He agreed so I called the British embassy. They seht
over a Mr. Woodward, scientific attache! I told him of our decision,

He "hit the roof."™ Apparently he sent word at once to London and a come
mission was dispatched from London to register their objections.

This occurred at the time I was turning my job over to Bill
Webster as my successor. My action put him in the best possible posi-
tion. He could continue to refuse to give information and blame me
or he could loosen up to any extent he wished,

When the word came out later that Klaus J. E. Fuchs, a Harwell
scientist had traitorously disclesed very ilmportant secrets to the
Russians, I was very glad I had taken a firm position,

I had set the date of my departure as October lst., That was
definite. I told Forrestal that il he wished it, I would be williing to
find and train a successor, but if I were unable to do so0, I would leave
anyway,

I was very fortunate in finding Bill Webster for t he a ssignment,

He was an Annapolis and ¥,I.7. graduate who had left the sérvice and be-

- come Vice President of the New England Pawer Company. He came to Washe

ington as my assistant. Where I had been concentrating on problems of

'organization, he directed his attention to specific projects, I felt

it made a good team, le worked with me for a month and was in excellent

+ pogition to take over when I leflt,

Van Bush had frequently attempted to bring into more general uge
the principles of "operationp analysia” which had proven to be very guce.

cessful in many inatances during the war, particularly in the Navy.

II . "Bush visualized a "Weapoﬁs Systems Evaluation" group which would apply

* scientific principles to the evaluation of different systems of defense,

Since 1t was a highly scientific technique which frequently ranm counter
to typical military procedures, he felt 1t should be manned by civilians
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ratheor than military personnel. He felt that the evaluations

should play an important part in the plans and programs developed
by the Joint Chiefs of Staff.

One day Forrestal handed me a file on this subject and asked
me to give him my opinion. I studied 1t over the weekend and al-
though I recognized it as a very broad subject on wuch of which I
was uninformed; still I had the feeling that although the techniques
were undoubtedly of great value, still the preparation of the evals

uations should be under the jurisdiction of the persons held re-

“sponsible for operating the results~the J.C.S,

This I reported to Forrestal. He told me Bush wouldn't 1ike
ny answer, He was right for within half an hour Van came storming
into my office demanding that I mind my own business and refrain

I told him I was answering a question'asked me by the Secre-

’ .tﬁry and that belng a scientist he could not take offense if I

“answered it in Just the manner I felt was right. He couldn't dis-

agree, but he didn't like 1t. He was not at all well and went on
an .extended trip, The matter was far from settled,

The feud between the Navy and the Air Force was getting worse-
it was reaching the point where it influenced nearly every decision.
At the meetinga at Key West the services had reached certain conclue
gsions which h elped to ocutline their roles and missions. DBut

serious controversles were always cropping up., The conflict inter-

fered with our M.L.C. business and I told Forrestal I felt it must
be stopped before we could make further progress, My comment was,
I'm sure, only one of many. He, himself, fully realized that an.
other approach to the problem was a necessity,

A meeting was called at the Newport, R,I., Naval War College,
Forrestal asked me to attend and I flew im his plane with Harold
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Hinton, who headed the Military Establishment publicity, For-

restal, General Gruenther, and 5ack Ohly, one of Forrestal's
special assistants.

We put down at Quonsett Airport where planes of General
Yandenberg, General Bradley, Admiral Denfeld all arrived with
these military chiefs and theilr planning deputies, General Xorstad,
General Wedemeyer'and Admiral Radford,

It was a comfortable spot., I had tennis with Hinton, Col-
onel Bob Wood, Forrestal's new aide and Al Gruenther. Forrestal,

Admiral Radford and I had a swim and Radford and T went out for

a turn about the harbor in a Navy launch., Most of the time, howe

ever, was strictly business
At the J.C.S. meeting, chairmanned by Forrestal, the Air
Force-Navy squabble was seftled on the basis that the Ravy would

oyergte aguch aviation as was necessary for Naval purposes includ-

~ing a force to strike enemy submarine pens, navy yards and land

baged planes attacking naval shipé. The Navy would not, however,
conduct strategic bombing except to the extent that it was planned

by the Air Force as an auxillary to their activities. This seemed

- to me to be an improvement, but the Navy would never believq that

the Air Force would plan any Navy strategic bombing and the Air

Force would continue to suspect the Navy of exceeding its roles.

Tt was like the Forcible stopping of a fight between two boys who
were ready to go at it again on the slightest provocation, but it

gave a basis for some needed decisions and was, therefore, an im-
provement,

Another matter on the agenda was the status of AFSWP, This
agency under General Nichols had been reporting to the J.C.S8.,
ratﬁer than to any single service. The Air Force wanted it to come

under its monitorship though remaining as a tri.service agency.
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I had been studying the problem and Forrestal urged that I make a

récommendation quickly. Because of the urgency 1 proposed, as a
temporary arrangement, that the Air Force assume monitorship but
that this be considered a temporary arrangement pending fina; de-
termination, The Newport meeting accepted this plan although they
accepted it so vigorously that I feared it would be difficult to
-move the Air Force out of their supposedly temporary advantage.
"It wasi! |

J My later report recommended that each service be permitted
to work on 1ts own applicatinn of atomic energy, that the activities
be coordinated by M.L.C. and that AFSWP be continued only to hamndle
those activities which could not be delegated to the gservices, The
“reason for my recommendation was simple-.I felt the mosat progress
would be made by the people most interested in the results. So
far we had thought of airborne bombs only. Why not let army orde
nance work on atomic projectiles, navy ordnance work on atomic
torpedoes, and other military agencies work on 1ltems of interest
to them. I felt this would accelerate progress, stimulate atomic
training and be much simpler to handle administratively. Some
duplication of activities could be permitted without detriment
and the M,L,.C. would act as a coordinating agency.

I had discussed this plan with Dr. Barl T. Compton who had

succeedad Van Bush as head of the Research bLevelopment Board. He

agreed with my plan. General F¥ichols, head of AFPSWP, opposed it

as it would largely break up that agency. The Alr Force opposed
it as it would result in their losing monltorship over most of the
atomic work in all three services, Many M.L.C. members were appreéw
hensive that the move was too drastic, OSome felt the transition
would cause a period of confusion and weakness which could be i1l

afforded at that time - the Berlin Air Lift was at its height and
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When Forrestal reviewed the plan I suspect he was hesie
tant to make a change. The waters had been muddy so long that he
did not want to disturb them again even though the proposed plan
might be an improvement, He, therefore, suggested that 1t should
be deferred. It was, I doudbt if 1t has ever gone into effect al.
though two years later I was called to Washington to confer on a
problem of organization on military atomic activity and told the
officials that the recnmmand;tians of the previous report would
solve thelr problem. They pulled the report from the file .and ex
pressed regret that the recommendations had not been put into
effect years ago. They said that, although they felt them sound,
they hesitated to make the move "at that time.," S0 it wasn't made
- and for the second time the military stalled in doing what they
~thought was right. | ‘

. But again I'm ahead of my story. Back at Newport the ques.
‘tion of Van Bush's recommendation that a Weapons Systems Eva;uaa
tion group be organized under the Research Development Board was
brought up, This was the matter on which my advice to Forrestal
had heen at such variance to Bush's recommendation., Bush wanted
civilian organization and coantrol with reports direct to the
Sacretary of Defense, I recommended J.C.S. control but substan-
tial participation by the Research Development Board in the corgan-
digation and operﬁtinn of the group,

At the Newport meeting Bush's recommendation was brought up.

I withheld comment, After some very vigorous discussion it was ape
parent the whole evaluation group concept would be voted down, and
Bush' s recommendation would be completely defeated, 1 thought the
evaluation program pood and did not wish to see it discarded so I
recommended that the group should bhe organized and operated by

R.D.R. but reporting tn J.C.S5. This saved the dav angd thesw -~
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‘Is-...t - Yan DBush didn't 1ike it much but couldn't be so annoyed as he
o realized the plan would have been completely abandoned if X hadn't

proposed the alternate.
It was at this Newport meeting that General Al Gruenther made
one of his best humorous remarks. He had a marvelous sense of
. humor as did Forrestal. A question of some procedure was brought
up and discussed at length without any apparent progress being made
bf the three 4-star generals and admirals and three S-star officers,
‘At this point, Gruenther, who was only a 2-star general and the mast
_junior of ficer present, spoke up "Mr. Secretary, it 1s apparent
there is not enough ability here to solve this problem. I recome

mend, therefore, that it be assigned to their subordinates.® A
‘good laugh followed, Only Gruenther could have gotten away with
‘I}\- ‘such a remark, He was and still is an amazipgly able man,

- Many very serious problems of national security were discussed
at Newport. The public did not generally realize their serious
potentialities. Forrestal mentioned the difficulty in securing the
services of competent civilians. One particular problem he mene
ti&ned was the chairmanship of the Munitions Board.

: _ Gene Hargrave was chairman. He was serving part time, the bal-
ance being devoted to the Eastman Kodak Company of which he was

. President. He had agreed to serve for one year. His year was up
. and he waa eager to be relieved. Ou the other hand, Forrestal had

"—*““fv--——1ﬁf¥ieu&%y—ia-gett4ng—a—successnn+__2axiially;b$§agﬁg_of the general

reluctance of busincsgs people to take such assignments and partially

- because it was close to election time. Everyone expected the Denw

.\_' ' ocrats to be thrown out of office so no Democrat was interested in
accepting an appointment which might last only for a few months and

no Republican cared to be appointed by a Democrat when he could wait
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a few months to be appointed by a Republican, The matter was at

a stalemate,

Forrestal approached me on the matter, He said I had gained
the confidence of the military, I was fairly famiiiar with the
ways of Washington and also with industry. IHe realized I had
agreed to come to Washington for six months only but he urged that
T accept appointment as Chairman of the Munitions Board for Jjust
three months to tide him over the elections. He promiged that he
would not put me under obligation to stay longer than that,

T told him I had come for six months only and didn't see how
I could stay longer. I would, however, try to put him in touch
with some recently retired members of the du Pont Company who
.ﬁight consider such an appointiment.

Ruly Carpenter came fo Washington and talked with Forrestal,
He was greatly impressed with Forrestal himself and with the prob-
jem., A few weeks later he invited Forrestal and me to dinner in
his home 1n‘De1aware at which a number of recently retired members
. of the du Pont COmp;ny were present, Forrestal was to present his
"story to them hoping to secure their interest and assistance.

| He told his story, but much to my surprise, instead of urging
them to serve, he urged them to permit me to do so. It was an
unexpected turn of events., 1 was told du Pent would have no obw
jections to my staying on but that decision rested with C. K. Davis,
Preaident of Remington Arms Company, énd myself. I flew to Bridge-

port in Forrestal's plane and talked to C.K., It was agreed that
my leave would be extended to and that I'd accept,

The antire matter was a great surprise to me. Of course, I
was consdous of the honor of being considered for the chairmanship
of the Munitions Board., I was also consclous of Forrestal's dif -

fienlt situation and of the importance to national security. I was
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unfamiliar with the activities of the Munitions Board but had
confidence that I could handle them as I had apparently handled
my other assignments., So I told Forrestal I would accept the
appointment provided I would not be obligated to stay beyond
three months., He said he would see that neither he nor the Re-
publicans would put me under pressure to stay longer,

OnSpprember Jb./94e T was sworn in as Chairman of the ¥uni-

tions Board. Again puhlicity was withheld at my request.

T lunched one day with Forrestal and Mr, Henry Cabot Lodge.
The discussion was on the transition in the Military Establish-
ment from the Democratic to the Republican Administration. X
Aqtqp't realize it at the time bat Lodge told me later than when
Ehe Republicans won (as tﬁey fully expected they would) .Dewey
would 100k to me to handle the transition in the Military Estab-
li;hment. Just what that would mean I'li never know as the Ke-
publicans did not win.

Bill Webster took over as Chairman of the Military Liaison
Commission and deputy to Forrestal on atomic activities. I was
happy to have such an able successor who was a0 thoroughly fam-
iliar with tés assignment,

Gene Hargrave was delighted io be relieved aof the omnerous
' roﬁponaibility of commuting back and forth from Rochester to Washe
ington, Forrestal seemed to be well pleased that he could 1live up

42,

to his promise to ralieve Hargrave and also to have a full-time
Chairman of the Munitions Board who would not have to divide his
attention between military and industrial activities,

For us, however, it was a bit different. We had made all our

plans expecting to return to Connecticut on Ogtober 1st, The lease

on our Washington house ran out and we had to scratch around to

P s
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to £ind another, That was no easy matter and it waa by the mer?st'
coincidence that we were able to rent a house at 11 Grafton Street,
Chevy Chase, We moved and settled promptly and "set up business at
our new location.®

Judy started school in The Cathedral School and we arranged
for another tenant in our house in Southport,

Knowing that our stay in Washington was temporary, Louise, Judy

and I spent busy weekends seeing the sights. We vistted The Smith-

. sonian, The Capitol, The Pentagon, the Lincoln and Jefferson Memor-

ials, the Chesapeake and Ohio Canal, the Great Falls of the Potomac,
the paddle boats in the basin, Kounf VYernon and others.

Forrestal and General McCoy proposed me for membership at the
Chevj'Chase Country Club, - We never hecame members becausge our
name did nof come to the top of the wailting ligt until three or
four years after we had left Washington. - We used the c¢lub quite
often, however, at the invitation of our old friend, Freddy Hyde,
and Mr. and Mrs. Dillard Lassiter, all of whom lived at the club.
We had tennis there with the Roberts family, Captain "Brick" Roberts
of &ha Navy and his wife Virginia and daughter Barbara (Boots) -
have been good friends whom we have seen from time to time ever
gince,

The responsibilities of the Munitions Board surprised me.
The name implies only munitions, hut the board is actually a top

policy making and GniTying Agency in practicatty atlnon=operationat—
fields, It was responsible for determination of policy for the
Military Establishment in industrial mobilization, manpower, pro-
curement and transportation, and was an eperating agency in atockw
piling strategic materials and unification of military facilities.
Yery few, if any, people either inside or outside the Military
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Establishment knew what the responsibilities were that were ase
signed to the Munitions Board. For that reason we were frequently
in the awkward position of interjecting ourselves into activities
alfeady contenplated by others who did not know of our interests
therain,

The Board conslsted of Gordon Gray, Assistant Secretary of
the Army, John Kenney, Under Secratary of the Navy, who was later
succeeded hy Assistant Secretary of the Navy EKoehler, and Arthur
Barrows, Under Secretary of the Air Fovce with myself as Chairman.
The Board had a staff of about 400({P) officers, enliated men and

.eivilians. The director of the staff was Lt. Gen. Leroy Lutes,

' Under him were Major General Sidney Spaulding, Rear Admiral Dennebrin
'and Hajor General Patrick Timberlake, a tri-service group eachd

whor was responsible for a sector of the staff activities.

Problems or proposed policies would be presented to the board
or generated by it or its staff. They would be analyzed by the
staff and a proposed decision presented to the board for consider-
ation at the weekly meetings.

' The Munitions Board was originally organized as a voluntary
cooperative activity between the Arny and the Navy., It picked up
some of the activities performed in World War I by Baruch and his
Har Industries Board, During World War II it was very active in

allocating materials between the services, When the "Unificaticn
Act®

with a chairman appointed by the President and confirmed by the

‘Senate,

The unification a¢t also created the National Security Coun-

cil, the National Security Resources Board, the War Council, the
Joint Chiafs of Staff and the Research Development Board, The
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activities of these were quite clearly understood except the

.-\‘ Natlional Security Resources Board, It was always a problem to
differentiate between the responsibilities of the Munitions
Board and the National Securlty Resources Board, In general, 1t
can be said that the N.S.R.B. was a service representing all
Government agenciss and the Munitions Board only represented the
miiitary. This was never entirely clear and we were frequently
- overlapping in our activities, Arthur Hill was Chairman of the
N.S.R.B. The Board was made up of the Secrataries of Defense,
State, Treagsury and Interior (2). It never had a meeting while
I was on the Munitions Beard. I considered it a very vague sort of
organizatian.
As Chairman of the Munitions Board I hecama Forrestal's
.\ - deputy on the N,5.R.B., a membar of the War Council and the
prﬁqgry official of the Military Establishment on all matters
pertaining to industry, manpower and stockpile. As such I ap-

peared frequently before Congressional Committees, These ap-

pearances are greatly dreaded, particulariy by military officers
who are frequently put through pretty stiff cross-examination.
They feel that a civilian has a much better chance as a witlness
than does an officer and I mr esume they are right., Members of

- Congress seem to look on military officers as a sort of servant,

regardless of their rank,

Thers were several occasions when they jumped on me but I

‘ didn't feel I'd fared ioo badly. IHaving given up all compensa-
T tion except my government salary, I was in a strong poaition,
‘Ik . One episade that I enjoy recalling was when there were
several bills before the House generally providing government

funds for exploration and development of mineral deposits in
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several of the weatern states. I didn't llke the bills because
they purported to use government funds for operations which are
customarily handled by private snterprise. Furthermore, I felt
there would be nothing forthcoming except the use of taxes raised
largely in the east to §or¢'dcwn "rat holes” in the west,
The hearing was attended by twenty or thirty press reporters.

They were just waiting for me to let a word slip that these bills
would be beneficial to National Defense. The chairman tried hard
to crowd me into such a satement by such questione as « "Mr, Cars
penter, if manganese were found as a result of these bills wouldn't
it be beneficial to National Security?? The answer, of course,
would be "Yes,® and the committee and the press would have just
what they wanted - an opporiunity to pramoté these bills in bew
half of National Securi‘tf.r

_;I didntt want to say "Yes," I could say the bills were econ~
omically illogical as they would cautien‘me that such a determina~
tion should be made by Keyserling of the Preaident's Economic
Councili., X couldntt say they wouldn't find adequate supplies of

ranganess « that was for the Bureau of Mines to say. So 1 ducked

" and dodged,

Finally Congressman White from Idaho said "Mr, Carpenter, you

aren't very sympathetic to our part of the country, are yout"

"Mr, Congressman, " I replied, "there's nothing I would en-

joy mora right now than being in Idaho.® That slowed him down,

46,

When he asked what I knew about Idaho, I told him the first
job I had after getting ocut of the Army in World War I was play-
ing a fiddlie in a barroom just over the line in Oregon.

"gh", he said, "You are one of the boys, I thought you cane
from Wall Street.,"
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¥Itve never been there in my 1life,” I answered,

That quieted him but latsr he said - "Nr, Carpenter, is that all
you knrow about Idaho?¥

By this time I was getting a bit annoyed sa I anawered, "Mr,
Congressman, I've walked from the southwest corner to the central
portion of Idaho and surveyed much of it! Have you done that, Mr.
Congressman?® That finished it.

The next day I wag delighted to see neﬁapaper headlines ipdicat-
ing that The Military did not favor thass billse Tﬁey were‘hever
passed,

Another hearing on legislation pertaining to government purchas-
ing procedures wasg very confusing. _I couldn't make head or tail of it.
Fortunately, Gordon Gray appeared with me and knew his sub ject more
thoroughly, so he handled most of the questions.

When Forrestal p:esenteé the proposed budget for the Miiitary
Establishment 1t was the first time a combined Army-Navy-Air Force
Budget was presented, He had his Special Assistant, Bill McNeil,
present it and Dr. Compton, Chairman of the ﬂesearch and Development
Board, and I were pressnt., As I recall it, the budget ran in the
neighborhood of 15 billion dollars.

The budget is presented in several large volumes and members of
all services and agencles are called to testify. It secnms ﬁo ne ime
possible for a Congressional Committee to handle such a huge matter

intelligently, About all they can do is to detect a few "saft spots®

and_recommend reduction in _these,

LY

Experienced fiscal officers know how the committes will work
and frequently they intentionally put in "goft spots™ for the com-
nittee to find so they will not interfere with the more important

1tems.

Every committee, no matier how hostile, always has at leagt one
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member who 1s sympathetic to the viewpoint of the witness. Occ;;
sionally this member will ask what questions you would like him'ta
ask in order to bring out your arguments,

A membsr of the Executive Branch of the Government is expected
to present testimony according to adrministration policy. When he
is asked‘a question, however, he is generally expected to answer it

accurately, The method of planting questions is sometimes used by
.individuals to air their personal views when they don't "gee” with
of ficlal poiicy. Y never used this device,

Since I was unsympathetic with much of the administration policy
I was frequently called upon tn testify on a subject'where uy perw
gonal beliefs weres in opposition. In these cases I would always tlell
Forrestal, and later Secretary Johnson, how I felt and how I would
testify, If they wanted other testimony given, they should send
someone else. They never did,

‘An extreme case of this nature was in connection with the "Spence
Bili®. This was mractically the keystone of Truman's legisiative pro-
gram of "Economic Stabilization." The bill provided that the govern-
menf should make surveys of the most important materials and ser-
vices, If they found any which appeared 1nadeq§ata they could urge
the companies invelved to push ahead faster., If they still felt
- the plans to ba inadequate, then the government could step into the
industry to construct and operate facilities. The steel industry

seemed—to—be—the-prime—target-and—the—bili-—was-best-known-as the
one which would put the government into the steel business,

" Papers on this bill were handed to me one Friday aftermoon by
the Munitions Board staff. They had prepared my testimony for wne
and I was to give it on Monday morning. Forrestal had asked that. I
handle the tastimony for the Military Establishment on this bill,
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This gave me only the weekend to consider it. I should have
peen informed eariier, but wasn't,so all weekend I studied the legis-
1ation and the volunminous data prepared by the staff, I didn't like
tha'pﬁbpoaed testimony a bit so I wrote a new statement. I finighed
it Sunday midnight and was prepared to give it early Honday morning.

Monday morning the radio announced that Truman had returned
from his vacation at Key West and was going "up on the 111" to
pre&s for his ”econogic stabilization legislation.” That meant the
Spence Bill and I would be testifying against it at the same time
the President was pushing for it. It was a very illogical 51 tua«
tion, so I promptly pointed it out to Forrestal., Ie callied in
Loulis Johnson who was soon‘to become Secretary of Defense,

Forreatal said he would assign sormeone else 1f it were embar-
rassing to me. I told him it wouldn'tpbe embarrassing to me but
probably would ée for the administration so they might send some-
one blse if they wished, They jointly decided, however, that if I
was willing, I should make the statement the way I saw 1t.

' Half an hour later I was informed the hearings were called off,
Apparently they couldn't affaord to have an adverse statement by the
Hilitary Establishment. The bill has never been revived.

"On another oc¢casion, Secretéry Johnson asked me to repregent
the Military Establishment at a meeting of some kind where plans
for subsidizing oil exploration in Mexico were to be formulated,

T told him I'd attend if he wished but that I was opposed to the

pian37~andfi—%oid—h%m—whyr——ne—saéd~$ha_Erssidanimhadmaaknﬁ_xhﬁ_____“w
cabinet to su?port the legisiation. I told him I dida't want to

vote that way. He said he'd send an Admiral %o cast the vote dut
wanted me there, I told him 4if the vote was to be cast in-that
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fashion I didn*t even want to be there,
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Next day Johmson told me he'd presented ﬁy argument at an-
other cabinet meeting and now I could attend the meeting and vote
as T wished. X went, but wasn't called upon to vote because the
chairman, knowing my position, dropped the matter, It's never
come up since.

Many times at a meeting I'd remain silent while a subject
was discussed with an apparent agreement along lines which seemed
to me to be unsound, Generally, my viewpoint would be requested
and I'd say I didn't know anything about government or military
but in business I'd think we would do 1@ another way. Invariably
neads would nod and frequently the vote would be changed,

This sounds pretty egotistical as I read it, but I honestly

don't mean it that way. ¥y point is that when a man with some

sound industrial experience accepis a position in government, he
can have profound influence over the actions to be taken even if
he-is fundamentally unsympathetic with the administration. I never
felt so free to state my position and 1 never had better support.
It's a great pity more people don't realize how effective they can
be, Thess resulfs get no pudlicity but unfortunately the confu-
sioﬁ, thalcriticism, the futility and the public castigation do,
a0 service in Washington has a bad name, It should be regarded

as a privilege but, instead, a person taking a Washington assign-
ment is regarded with a bit of susplicion, both by his assoclates
in industry who thinks there's something wrong with him for going

amd—hy—those—in-Washington-whothink the reason he came is that

50.

he was B misfit in industry.

The Munitions Board staff had more or less been the personal
égency of the Chairman and the actions of the board were those of
the chairman except to the extent they were nodified by board mef-

bers. 7The three service members of the board lacked a feeling of
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I hoped to correct this situatiopn

"

unity with the board itself.
by making them feel it was their board and that T was there as;

chairman only to carry out their wishea and not to dictate.
Forrestal frequently asked if I didn't want more authority.

e

I told him I preferred it as it was as I wanted the board members

to feel the responsibility of the board's actions. I'd try to
refrain from expressing my opinion until the board members had
This method of eoperation appealed to the

sxpressed theirs.
three board membera and I had the feeling that we were making

progress in getting their cooperation,
My handsome desk wag the one

My new office was palatial.

used by Ganeral William Tecumseh Sherman when he was Chief of
It was beautifully carved but was more orna-

" Staff of The Army.
”mental than useful so I used it as a table for Board Meetings.

Throughout The Pentagon thers are thousands of paintings of

soldiers and sallors in combat. Some are excellent, s ome poor.

They seemed highly appropriate in all areas except that of the
Hunitions Board, Hare we wers interested in the large army of

}-,13_-

g

g . industrial workers whohad supplied huge quantities of ships,

G W .

ff_ gg guna, ammunition, petroleum, uniforms, food, medicine and the

ggé&: millions of items needed by our armed forces and also for our

£ 2w

§§§%§ allies. This part of the military effort was given tao iittle

§§ ;ﬁ? & consideration.

Ire s

= - All mititary plctures in our area were taken down and re-

p1Ecnﬂ“by“picturts~0fﬂnen~a%—werk—in—éadusinyr-wxhay_changad___*_*”mw
Business men who came in would say

the atmospheres of our area.
. "Somahow I feel more at home here than anyvwhere in Washington.®
!‘ The inil:ltary offices gained greater anpreciation of the need of
General Omar Bradley on one

industrial backing for their plans.
occasion looked at the pictures in my office and said "Don, these




52,

1'5\

€ determined o be Unclassified

IA%
Date;

P
R

iewad Chief, RDD, WHS
EQ 13528, Section 3.5

¢

. SEP 177 20

1

men did a big job for us in the war, didn't they?"

When an industrialist called at our office we kept contact

with him until he got his answer, On too many occasions in Wash-

ington a man 1is passed from one agency to another until he goes

home without his answer and thoroughly disgugsted,

The moast specific activity of the Board was probably the h//

stockpiling of strategic materials, The Munitions Board staff

had made a thorough study of important items which would be in
short supply during an emergency and had determined what would

be needed in a stockpila which would serve the ¢ivilian economy

as well as the military, That this was to serve civilian as well

as military requirements was seldom understood,

There were relatively few items to be gstockpiled and some

of them were quite surprising. I could understand the need of

stockpiling manganese and platinum and tin, but I never would

have thought of pepper or sisal, These were very important,

however, and had to be procurad.
We made up a large bar chart showing each jtem, indicating

the amount needed and the amounts on hand, It was a very large

cﬁart, so large that when it was placed in a room it almost

filled a whole wall., It was called the "pipe organ". We showed

{1t to the War Council, to the Joint Chiefs of Staff, to the
National.Security Resources Board staff, to Congressional Com-

mittees, to the Bureau of the Budget, and to the President's

" understanding of the stockpile., It showed very clearly how far

. we were behind in the requirements of our program,.
At that time many materials were in short supply in the

civilian economy, Industry was being hampered by shortage of
copper and lead, Producers of these metals were allocating their
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production and there was u great demand for larger quantities.

This was a difficult time to procure guantities of these items

for the stockpile.
Tn accordance with existing legisliation the Munitions

Board could work closely with the Secretary of Commerce in con-
Secretary Sawyer and I called in the cop-

tacting industries.
The ﬁeed was recognized but no company wanted
If

per industry.

tc sell the government if its own customers were in need.

all companies supplied proportionately equal amounts, the "smelt-

ers? would be satisfied.,” We tried several arrangements but all
Finally T told them

were opposed by the Department of Justice,
we would try to engage the services of Mike Swartz of Bridgeport
The smelt-

Brass Company who hqg handled copper during the war,

ers agreed to be governed by Mike's judgment.
Herman Sieinkraus, President of Bridgeport Brass, agreed

~to grant Mike a leave of absence and Mike reported to the job
It was the first copper entering the

and procured copper..
stockpile since the war.,
The story was the same on lead, only worse. Lead was very

My own company, Remington Arms, was badly in need of
This time we engaged Ernest

%

& scarce,

E%“’:a lead, But we had to secure some.

::g:; &

w - .

§§ ;{? ~ Hawkins in whom the members of the industry had great confi-

m'n-’u? i

£E£8 o dence. Through him we began to procure lead. Once again this

99 &

gg‘}’g___ was the first since the war.

w32 ;‘g

e A—-year—or—so—iater—Socrelary-Johnson, at a large dinner of
the American Ordnance Association, stated that a substantial

ILater

start had been made on the stockpile, "thanks to Don Ca;penter.“

| In 1948 it was difficult to buy and prices were high.

in early 1949, however, business dropped off and supplies were
It was

Prices fell and companlies begged us to buy.

abundant.
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an ideal time to buy from every standpoint, but congress
wouldn't appropriate the mone& and we couldn't,
later, when the Xorean Nar broke out, I believe the stock-

pile was in somewhat better shape but still far short of require-
ments, At that time Sanatorlﬁégzgggn of Tennessee, Chairman of
the Senate Appropriations Committee, issued a public statement
that the Military was lax in procuring materials and he was
going to institute a congreasional investigation to uncbveﬁ
_the shameful laxity. I phoned Hubert Howard, then Chairman

of the Munitions Board, teiling him I'd welcone being called

as the first witness so 1 could testify how the ¥unitions Board
had bagged Senator Q;gz;;;; to push appropriations but he had not
' acted; ﬁgéizggg'nevar startéd his investigation.

' Tin was one of the most important items in the stockpile.

In spite of restriciions on certain tin cans such as beer and
“dag food, and in splie of the thinner coating of tin which had
peen developed during the war,; tin was still in very short sup=
ply. Farthermore, the sources of tin are remote, Most of it
comes from Malaya and the East Indies, a smaller quantity coming
from Bolivia., In either case, there was great uncertainty of

the friendliness towards the United States by the suppliere and
their workmen in case of emergency and the ocean iznes would re-
quire substantial naval protection, so stockpiling was important,

Tin, however, is very expensive and the quantities large, so

¢

heavy appropriations wers requirets Alihough—our—"pipe—organt— —
chart helped budget officials and congressional committees to
understand the situation, anpropriations were never adequate

and when the Korean crisis broke out I learned that the stock-

pile was too small. I had the satisfaction of knowing, however,

that we had made substantial additions to it.




‘lr\ At this time Keyserling, then Chairman of the President's
- Board of Economic Advisors, gdvocated a plan which I could not
endorse. He proposed a new corporatlon which would buy critical
materials, then raise funds by bdorrowing, using the same nater-
iale as collateral. I couldn't see how we could properly pledge
critical materials as collateral, It would be quite possible
t+hat when we needed them most some creditor might call them, The
plan seemed to me to a subterfuge, We argued 1t out with Key-
serling and he dropped it.

On another occasion, General Vaughn, the President's Military
Alde, asked us to loan quantities of platinum to a conmpany
operating on a defense contract. Ve could not {ind where national
defense would be served by such a loan and couldn't see any good
ql'“' reason for loaning platinum from the stockpile. I refuged, I

was 'told I'd bo fired and I stated that I'd welcowe being fired
for then I could go home., That was the end of that.

Our estimates of supplies and requirements and thosei;he

National Security Resources Board both indicated that alualnum

% would be in very short supply in an emergency. Only about half
§§§§ the needed facilities existed for the production of this import-
.géng ant metal, and some of the existing plants were being demclished.
gég% It was a very 1llogical situation which came about because of the
g%’%g% government's anti-trust euit against the Aluminum Company. Plants
SEX0 e coUTd-be—used-by—Kaiser or Reynolds were sold to them. PRants

which they could not use or would not buy were demolished rather

than permitting Alcoa to acquire them. Thus in the face of a ser=

‘I}i ious shortage, the governmment's policles were making it worse.

The situation required immediate action to stop the desiruc-

tion of these valuable plants and then we could argue about it later.
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So I ordered Major General Patrick Timberlake to do what he thought
necessary to preserve the plants. He was in a difficult positinn:
for so many government agencies bad become involved, One plant on
the west coast was being sold bit by bit. The generators had been
sold to =& fofaign government by some scrap dealers who bought it
from our government. To stop the sale, the State Government and

Paul Hof fman's E.C.A. had to be brought in. General Timberlake was

‘able to save what there was bat we incurred the resentment of the

Department of Justice. A rumor was repeated to me that My, Bergson,
head of the Anti Trust Division had threatened to complain of my
actions to the President, I told my imformer to tell Bergson to
go ahead. He didn't,

Alcoa wanted to build a new plant in Alagka -- the government
opposed the action so nothing was done,

fv:J;rﬁent to Tom Clark, Attorney General, to sacure some resolution

of thJ'problem. He agreed but before I could get back to Forrestal's
office to tell him, Clark chenged his mind and ee infaormed lorrestal.
The ﬁext move was for the Secretary to téke the matter up in a cabinet
meet;ng -- he did so and that was the end of it, mothing was done
ad& aluminum was in short supply at the outbreak of Korea., It was
a shameful situation where national security was slighted,

There were many attempts to use stock pile funds for the pur-

chase of non-critical materials, In 1949, when business was de-

pressed, the wool people wanted us to stockpile wool, Others

wanted us to buy scrnb Iron Trom Japan and there were many other——

suggestions and requests. We didn't adopt them, however, because

our funds were inadequate to prﬂcuré the items which would be

difficult to obtain in an energency.
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Stockpiling required far more than mere buying. In one cage

‘I’“ we took steps to build up several hundred miles of railrcad in

= Asia, in another we considered dredging a river in South America

to pet material out. In another we encouraged a company to plant

and harvest new crops in the tropics. Through B.C.A. we got mater-

ials from several Buropean and African countries, we encouraged

gsome United States countries to set up foreign activities to pro-

duce some materials., We found the stockplling activity called for

many unexpected and difficult tasks.
Tn the field of Industrial Mobilization the Munitions Board

was to set up procedures whereby the three services would not be

overiapping in their procurement, There ware three methods used,

Single service procurement of an item was the simplest and most

direct. All small arms amnunition for ail services was purchased

by the army.
staff;d by members of each of the gervices.

Coordinated procurement required a procuring office
A third type called

for a company to work with one service only, other services .

working with other companies. Chance Vﬁught Company, for instance

sold_planes only to the Navy and North American sold only to the

g

§§u!§§ Air Force, We were continually adding to the list of items which
o= .

L;’gé ~ were handled by single service procurement, but it was a slow pro-
X

2% ce

§§§ % BB

885 ‘ A singls catalog of all military items was considered a de-

w b '

n‘f‘?é%ﬁ ~ sirable objective. buring the war there had been ingtances where

one service ran out ol ad temwhenanother—servieoe—had—4t-dut .

couldn't identify it because it was called by a different name,

The task of cataloging was huge. There were millions of items.

@

! Of course it was desirable to standardize on them as much as

possible without interjecting undue delay and lagk of flexibility.
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There was one membar of the Secretary of lefense's staff who
had great lideas of cataloging., He proved to be an obstructioniat

until w o found his objedtiva was to set cataloging up as a separate

~sort of bureau hoping he would be put in charge. After we discovered

this he was discredited but we didn't make as much progress in cata-
loging as we would have liked, It was a blg job.

} A satisfactory scheme of industrilal mobilization requires the
knowledge and cooperation of thousands of companies. As 1 recall,
we thought contact with some 39,009 companies was important, Each
company shauld know who to contact, what they should make, how, when,
with what materials, what manpower, how to transport both materials
and product, what power requirements, what new buildings or equipe
ment would be needed and so on, This was about the most difficult
selling job imaginable for 1t must be donhe so well it would be
thorqgghly dependable in an emergency.

Under my predecessor, T. J. Hargravé, Annex 57 (?) was pree
pared which geve all the details of the procurement contact pro-
cedure. The plan appeared complicated but was actually fairly
aimple.

Realizing that such a plan would not work unless it were
thoroughly supported I called a meeting of the chiefs of all
procurement agencies -« 19 of them. I'd never had so much "brass”

in my office, They were asked about the plan,

3

They indicated that they had never been consulted on it and

®

weren't very familiar with its provisions. A fine situation this!
Here were the people who would do the actuval procurement and, to say
the least, they were unfriendly to the plan. We set out to correct
that aituation. One vital factor im such a plan is to ascertain

our reguirements, We couldn®t tell what we'd have to prepare to
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buy unless we knew what we would need. This was a matter for the
‘IF\ 'Joint Chiefs of Staff to determine through their war plans. General

Lutes kept pounding on this.
General Eisenhower was Chairman of Joint Chiefs of Staff and

I arranged some joint meetings, he would chairman ono; I, the next,

1t helped to establish a closer working relationship, but we didn't
gét pur 1ist of requirments., They always said they couldntt cal-

cilate requirements without knowing what kind of war we would have

We said someons must set a figure and if it ien't the

to {‘ight °
We didn't get them

Joint Chiefs of Staff then we would have to.

ome important companies refused to plan without knowing quantities.

and s
The Bureamu of the Budget assigned one of its members to study

the mission of the Rational Security Resources Board and Munlitlions

Board in order to clarify the confusion. After several weeks he

.‘? cams up with a paper which he read to ae.

a lot of words which were far from crisps
I don't know what happened to

It sounded to me like
Frankiy, I couldn’t

understand what he was getting at.

it.
In preparation of the budget for industrial mohilization we

ifiget

gembled and presented a combined budget for the three services.

o, as

§§§§ I wag familiar with the ideas of Army Ordance in the maintenance
_ggfﬁ:- of present properties and the educational contracts they proposed.
'§§§f§ The fiscal officer of the Army cut the budgetl substantially, 1
g’é’gé‘%’ . 1 intervened and they restored it. fthen it came to the Secretary

of_ﬁETEEEE“Tiﬁiﬁt‘ﬁftttur*the*samc—si%ua%ien—apsseﬁandmlwgni,ii_w“_*ﬂ__
Here 1t was

restored, ‘Then it went to the Bureau of the Budget,

‘l'\ cut again., This time with Gordon Gray and General Jack Christmas
2 we made a presentation to the Dureau of the Budget showing among

other things that a contrﬁct calling for a few million dollars
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could develop as much "readiness™ as the procurement of a billion
or so dollaers worth of tanks., We won the argument and later I
convinced General ILradley that tank requirements could be reduced
because of these readiness contracts.

It is dAfifficult for field commanders to place reliance on
*plans®", They would much prefer to see the "hardware® and have
it under their i§gpdiate control, But to buy it is expensive,

It costs money to store and maintain it, and there is always the
probability of its becoming obsolete. "Plans" which involve pilot
line operation and procurement of long delivery items ﬁre far less
equnsive and much bette}. That is what we sold, but I'm afraid
it must be s0ld every year. It is difficult to build "reasdiness"
in this fashion, but hundreds of millions of dollars are at stake.

I never becane very muéh involved with plans for manpower
rquigements. The Hunitions Board acted as a coordinating agency
for the services and presented 1ts requirements to General liershey,
I don't recall any speclal episoded in this area so it must have
prbceedad fairly smoothly.

-There was some uncertainty as to the responsibllity of the
Munitions Board and Joilnt Chiefs of Staff in the field of trans-
portation of supplies to the combat area. Some thought it should
be- done by the Munitions Board; others thought it should be done
by the Joint Chiefs of Staff. X couldn't find anything in our

" “charter" which called upon us to do it. One day the Joint Chiefs

of Staff brought the matter up for consideration, General Al
Wedenmeyer left the Joint Chiefs of Staff meeting to phone ne asking
if we would do it, I sald we would not as it was not in nur dir-
ective., I think that had a wholesome offect on the Joint .Chiefs

of Staff as it clearly indicated we were not "empire bﬁilding."
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We aluways tried to get someone else tﬁmao ﬂwjob for us rather
than doing it ourselves. This is quite contrary to the practice of
many guvernmeqt agencies who gobble up all they can just to "build
enpires.” Suéh agencies are looked upon with suspicion by all with
whom they come in contact. We avoided empire bullding scrupulsusly.

Forrestal had asked me to head the Munitions Board just long
enough tn tide him over the elections. Everyone expected the
Republic.a ns would win, DBut they didn't, and what a contusion there
was. MHougses had been rented by Kepublicans who expected to have
jobs in Wasbington, hotels had-hnoked their rooms to kepublicans for
the inauguratinn of bewey, all manner of plans had been made, but
ta no avail ~- Truman and the ngocrats would stay for another term,

When I-arrived at my affice one morning my very efficlent
secretary, Mrs. Moser, tol&'me I had an appointment with the President
in the White House at 11560 a.m. That sounded bad. Later she told
ne ﬁorrestal‘a otfice called and asked if the Secretary might drive
me over to the White liouse, That sounded werse -- 1 knew what was
up. The big change in plans resultihg from electinn mean't there
WRS no one read& to take the chairmanship of the Munitions Loard
.and I would be asked to stay on,
| In the car Forrestal sald he was in a very embarrassing
situation because he had promised me he would not urge me to stay
ﬁut that the President wanted me to stay en, I told him not to

" worry about it but that I would listen to what:the Fregident nhad

to say but could make nc committment without a lot more conslder-
ation, |

The President urged me to stay for the four years of his
administration but,if I couldn't, then for at least six monthe,

and aaid he intended to qrite the Presgident of du Pont to make
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it passible, I told him I had veen asked to come to Washington
for six months only, them I nad been urged to stay a f'ew months
ilonger and was assured I would not be asked to prolong it, Now
I was being_asked to stay longer, if I should,what assurance would
I have that this time.X could leave when my time was up. The
Preaident told me he would zgsure me I wouldn't de urged to stay
longer unless there should he an emergency.
| Forrestal and I left the White House with the undarstanding

that the President was writing Crawford Greénewalt and 1 would
write him. Crawford and I uouid talk 1t over and then 1 would
yive Forrestal and Truman my answer.

I was, of tourse, pleased that they thouvht well enough of
ny work to want me to stay on, 1 welcomed the opportunity to
carry on sone of the programs which we had gotten underway and
was pleased to be of asslstance to Forrecstal and National security.
On fh; other hand 1 was ecager to gaet back to private industry to
resuma my activities there. There was also an important financial
consideration Lecause the saiary I was receiving from the government
wag very small compared with my compensation [rom Reninxzton Arms
Coupany.

Bank in Washington is frequently judged Ly salary. Since all
government aalaries are publicly known it 419 quite easy to compare
a bureau chief with a commissioner and with an assistant secretary.

. On this basis I ranked butween g secrstary and an undes secratary,

so my salary was gquite high (317,500 38 1 Tecall/ BUf stiltrwith—
all the added expenses of living in Washington and the fact that rental
on our Connecticut house was taxable as income, I estimated very

approximately that the sojourn in Washington cost over $50,000,
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Truman wrote to Greenewalt, so did I, Later I saw him. It
was understood that my_leava would be transferred from Remington:
to du Pont and that I would stay on until June 80th. Although
there was no indication as to what position I would occupy in
du Pont it was understood that I would not lose by the transfer.
That was satisfactory to me and I told Forrestal and Truman
that I would stay for another six months.

Later when Louls Johnson was Secretary of Dafense he tried
hard to persuade me to stay on but I declined.

Since I was to stay six more months I felt we could make some
organizational changes which I had hesitated to do before. Thele
appeared to be four distinct functions, i.e., industrial mobilization,
procurement, and unification of facilitiea, Each
was to be headed by a chief‘and an assistant chief., The first and
last being primarily civilian was to have a civilian chief and a
military assistant chief. The others wer? to have a military
chief and civilian assistants. This would put a‘civilian.directly
in charge of industrial mobilizatien including the custody of
government owned plants. This was a new concept which was looked
upon with some skepticism by the military but hailed by such
civilian agenciea as National Association of Manudactesirs U,.S.
Chamber of Commerce, American Ordnance Association, etc,

Af ter a great deal of consultation and discussion, the Munitions

Board agreed to the change and so did Forregtal., We drew up a new

organization chart which he signed., All looked well and I was sure
e would begin to make much better progress. But then came the
hitch, I couldn't get géod men to take the jobs,

There were onl: five important positions to £fill with civilians

and they were of extreme importance, One was te handle the stock-
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pile ' - == the procurement of $2.7 billion worth of scarce

materirla. I considered it about the most difficult purchasing
job in existence. Another was to take charge of over $12 billion
rworth of govermment owned plants., Some were to ba demolished, some
converted, some sold, some leased, some turned over to government
agencies for their operation, and some put in "moth balls® to be
ready for the next emergency. This job called for the highest
type of industrialist., Ne would be responsible for a plant which
in dollars exceeded U, S, Steel, du Pont, General Motors and General
Electric combined. A third job was to erganize the industrial
mobilizﬁtion activity, clarifying the plans and introducing them
in 80,000 to 40,000 companies. I considered this about the biggest
selling job I had ever heard of. Another job was to bring about
unification of facilipies operated by the three services all over
the -world. The extent of tiis wase unpredictable but extremely
large.

It never occurred to me that I could not find five high caliber
“men to handle these assignuents, but I couldn't. I secured lists
of pésaible candidates from many places. I wanted to be certain
that we had men of the highest capabilities, these were not assign-
ments for mediocre people -~ we wanted the best, I wrote aome,
I asked some to come in for discussion, I went to visit some, I

_got others to contact some and affer several weeks I had not

secursd a man. In _iha process I talked with the representatives

of National Associmtion of Mswuilachrécwho had been so enthusiastic
about our new organization, They arranged for some of their New

York of ficers to come to my office for a discussion. I was very
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haopeful. Shortly before the meeting they ph%ﬁe&?tégg couldn't
come. 1 never heard another word from them and concluded that
National Assgciation of Monulgeturethad given me about as bad a
nbrush of £® as I could imagine. Now gix years later I am still
thoroughly disgusted with N ,A.M. for this action.

I talked with K., T. Keller of Chrysler hoping to get suggestions
on some prominent men in that company. He sent in Hutchinson, vice
president and chairman of thelr finance committee, They just
couldn't sec it. I talked to the policy committee of General
Motors and got a long letter from Harlow Curtis on why it was
impractical for an industrialist to serve in such a capacity.

I talked with Charles E. Wilson, president of General Electgic.

He referred me to a very competent member of his organization who
would have been excellent. That man, however, refused to come even
for a fonversation. It is interesting that he has since served in
Washington and has told me he was completély wrong in his previous
action. I talked with "Chief® Wilsdn, president of Alcoa who put
me in touch with an excellent purchasing man but just then he had

a severe operation and couldn't consider it. 1 talked to Colonel
Walsh, president of the American Ordnance Assoclation who saild they
would look into the matter and hope to come up with some ideas,
They didn't, The National Industrial Conference Board indicated
they would help, the Krueger economic advisors also did and really
tried, Forrestal attempted to get some help but all of these

activities produced nothing.

Many people speak of the frustration of government as due to v/
politics, inefficiency, laziness and insincerity, My own greatest
frustration 1n Washington had no connection with these but was

entirely due to amy lack of support from civilians, I felt sincerely
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that we were trying to do the job in a manner which would be

of groat benefit to the civilian econonmy. If we could accomplisﬁ
our objectives we would save billions of dollars and handle contacts
with industry in a most logical manner thus saving heavy faxes and
annoyance. But we couldn't get five men to help, It was incompre-
hensible.

One case comes to mind as particularly annoylng. A well
qualified man was willing to come -- he felt it his duty and was
intrigued by the possibilities of the job. A week later he phoned
me he couldn't come because the President of his company after dis-
cussing the matter with the directors told him ¢that if he took the
government assignment he should resign at once, To take the position
would, in that gentlemen's opinion, be the greatest disservice to
their stockholders that he éould imagine.

R Naturally 1 could never offer an appointment without first
clearing it with Forrestal. He told me {o clear with Don Dawson,
the President’s advisor on appointments. As it turned out I would
phone Dawson nearly every day about 4:00 to 5:00 PM, It got to
be a joke and we called it our ®teatime call." He knew well that
i was a Republican and that in all probabllity I would recommend
an industrialist who also was a Republican. In spite of this,
however, he told me that he would endorse any individual whoml

might recommend. He just wanted to be certain that the man hadn't

" just made a gpeech against Truman within the past week," I learned

1ater that Senator Howard McGrath, who was Democratic National Chair-
man, concurred in Dawson's attitude,

I never met either Dawson or McGrath until late in my
tour. In spite of our widely differing goverument philosophies

they gave me complete freedom in making appeintments.
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It was apparent that X wouldn't get the men I wanted this way

s0 1 studied the problem and developed a new approach, If we could
first get the Board of Directors of a company to declare that service
with the government was beneficial to ihe company, and then get the
president of the company to work with us to make available the ser-
vices of a top notch young man for two years, the man to come just

at the time his promotion to an important administrative post was
announced, and if we ¢ould get only one man {rom an industry, we
might 8o the irick. 7 .

I wrote this up with care and tried it out in several places.
’It seemed to "click®. Several company presidents told me they would
go along if I put the plan intc operation. General Eisenhower,
then President of Columbla, gave several speeches on the plan,
calling it the “Carpenter Pian.“ We were ready to put the plan 1nto.
operation at about the time I left Washington., No successor was
appointed for about six months and then Huhert Howard didn't seem
interested in the plan so it was never activated.

More recently I've had some correspondence with President
Fisenhower on it and Dr. Fleming, director of 0ffice of Defense
Hobilization has taken it up, He called for Carter Wellford to
work up a plan which emhodied much of the earlier one. It is at
present awaiting leglslation.

In spite of almost universal disappointments we did secure

the services of a few men, Ernest lawkin$ had been birector

of Purchases for du Pont and had retired., Jean Hargrave engaged
his services as a consultant and later when I could not get any-
one to take the stockpile job I contacted Frnest., He was then in
poor health, resting on a beach in ¥Florida. I hated to urge him

but the matter was urgent, In spite of his doctor's orders he
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came to washington and took charge. I had promised him [ would

keep right on trying to get a replacement for him and that he could
leave at any time he desired. He stayed on for many months and did
a fine Job.

Pauyl Litchfield, President of Goodyear, put me in touch with
Harry Bl ythe who came to Washington to work on the industrial
mobilization plans. He had been vice president of Goodyear Aviation
and had held some very important positions in industry. I wanted to
be certain he was happy on his'aasignment so after he had been on
“the job for about two weeks I asked'him if‘he was getting good
cooperation, He gaid he had never had better., X asked him if he

wished more authority., He sald he already had so much authority
| and the problems were so great that he was scared. Thatt's guite
contrary to the gemneral conéept of a government job but I wasn't
a bitksurprised at his answers,

- There are too many men who po to Washington on an assignment
and upon returning home they gserve their ego by telling how bad
things ars in Washington. The public believes it and service for
the government is considered an unpleasant assignment, A great
nisunderatanding exists between government employees and civilians,
I don't know any individuals in the country who work harder, more
intelligently, and with greater sincerity than the top wWashington
‘officials. The pressure {s extreme and exhausting. DBut the public

' think they have a soft political berth. Many povernment employeces

think industrialists draw fat salaries, play golf most every day,
have short hours of:work, think only of their own personal profits
and disregard the public welfere. They think the only time they
come to Washington 1s when theilr own profits are being hurt and

then if they are asked to help they refuse saying they don't want

any part of the "dirty buginess" of politics and government, On
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the other hand many industrialists think gc;ﬁ'fw;ie)rjlieﬂa employees are
lazy, intellectually dishonest, empire builders who think only of
building up their jobs regardless of the cost.

0f course both sides are wrong,l hope some method can be found
to bring about a better understanding and a higher level of respect
for both sidegs. One creates the wealth of the country, the other
administers the government. We must have both,

On Saturday noon, Under Secretary of the Navy John Kenney
dropped into my office seathing mad. [e had in his hand a magazine
article written by General "Jouy" Spaatz of the Air Force, I pre-
sume it brought up the old fight and criticized maval air. At any
rate Kenney was hot and said he would write an article and tell the
public the truth,

On our way down the corrider to lunch he noticed I hadn't said
anyghgng. "Don't you think I should write such an article", he asked.
I replied that if I wers he I would write an article of one paragraph
which would win complete public support for the navy. He, of course,
snorted and asked what it would say.

-"Just this," I replied, "The Navy has read General Spaatz'
article. The Navy supports unification.®

He didn't write any article.

‘ When the appropriation for the Air Force for "fiscal 1949" was
passed by Congress at a {igure far higher than before due to the

recommendations of the Finletter Committee, Congress was afraid the

increased appropriations would permit some contractors to make
Fexcessive" profits. It is said that Secretary Symington told the
committee he would have all contracts renegotiated. Renegotiation
was incorporated in the Air Force appropriation and a situation

existed where an item purchased for the Air lForce was subject to
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"renegotlation, if purchaged for the Navy it came é;der the "Vincent

Thamqar
Frammel Act” which limited the manufacturers profits and if it were

purchaged for the Army there were no restrictions, It was, of course,
an illogical situation and Symington was very vocal about it, advocating
ranagotiatioh for all three services.

1 felt renegotiation to be wrong in peacetime as it was contrary
to the principles of free enterprise; it removed incentive for
efficlient performance, limited competition and distorted costs.

Forreatal consulted with ne frequently as I presume he did
with Symington. At War Council meeting one day he announced that
the Military Establishment policy on renegotiation would be wiitten
by the Munitions Board. I had won his approval, but I knew it was
a long hard row hecause averyone in government geemed to feel
indugtrial profits were wrong and renegotiation had saved large
gums and been highly bemeficial, _

- Ne decided time was too short to make é thorough study of the
problem before the figcal 1950 appropriations were passed 50 we
decided tc propose interim legislation for 1950 and formulate a
longer range policy for 1951 and thereafter, For this purpose a
committee of military and civilians was formed and they commenced
their deliberations. . -

For 1950 they recommended that renegotiation should be limited
to ‘those itemas of peculiariy military character on which competitive
bids could not be secured., This was passed by the Munitions Bnard

aftep—considerable—diecussien—but-when—it-—reached-the bureau—of—the—

budget it was badly "blue pencilled”, The bureau was completely

out of gympathy with our ldeas, so I asked for a hearing,

Director Pace of the Budget referred the matter to %}s assistant,
wirh whe m

Lawton who called in a dozen or so0 of his a550cintes #N® Assistant

I
Secretary of the Navy, Jack Koehler and,discussed the problem with

wnEe M, M
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We showed them how a contractor coufg&b153%7ginn for an itemn,
have it renegotiated down to $105.00 and the records would show a
saving of $60,00 when the item should cost no more than $10.00 -
but due to the lack of incentive the costs justified the $15.00 and
the government actually lost $5.00 rather than saving $60.00., We
showed them that in an item like housing where they could get only
one biddaf, renegotiation removed most of his incentive, he was pere
mitted to make only a small profit, he had no incentive to put his
best zan on the job and the cost to the government woﬁnd up at
$10,000 per unit where it might have dropped to $8,000 if the govern-
ment permitted contractors to keep their profits and competition
resulted,

They were convinced and Lawton told me they had learned more of
renegotiation in our discussion than they had ever known. They
supported the legislation which was passed with the provision that
therewould be no renégotiatinn on competitive procurement, That
appropriation bill is now frequently referred to as the one which
began to make some sgense in ranegotiatibn. But that was the last
because after I left Washington the movement fell apart, there was
no real interest in furthering it ﬁnd ranegotiation came back
"across the board,® I feel it's a great mistake, and hope some
day it will be corrected before it is too firmly established,

Forrestal accasiunaily told me he was going to retire as

Secretary of Defense and on a few occcasions he agked me what 1

thought of louis Johnson as his successor, Y told him I didn*t

know Johnson but I did recall the way he acted as Assistant
Secretary of War when he had virtually waged a battle to undermine
his superior, I didn't 1ike such actions regardless of the circum-
stances, If Johngon were wrong it was inexcusable and even if he

were right his public criticism of his superior was unpardonable,
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So I didn't like Johnson as a suzcessor to Forrestal, Of course,
1 didn't want to see Forrestal withdraw under any clrcumstances,

One noon Forrestal asked me to join him for lunch -~- just the
two of us -~ and he told me he was going to announcs in a few days
that he would resign and Truman would appoint Johnaon. He said he
vanted me to c¢ontinue as Chairman of the Munitions Board, Johnson
wanted ne to continue and Truman did also, I said I didn't care to.
After considerable discussion, however, I promised Forrestal that
before I gave a final answer I would talk to Johnson,

Since I havs never refuscd a definite and reasonable request :L
by a responsible government official, and furthermore I had promised
Truman I would stay for six months, I decided I wouldn't say "no®
to Johnson but would put up a set of conditiocns he couldn't possibly
accapt.. So I told him I was opposed to the principles of the Truman
administration and would speak out against them on any reasonuble
occasion, I said I would not permit the appointment of any politicans
on any Muntions Board staff Jobs, I said we would refuse any assistance
to any azency for political purposes, that I wanted to appoint several
strong industrialists who were probably Republicans. I don't recall
any Ather conditions but I made it as tough as I could, fully expectiny
that he would be very happy to look for someone else to take my job.

He didn't., Instead he said he would back me up in every one of my
ideas. 1 was amazed, Me had taken the "wind out of my salls" and

I agreed to stay but left his office with the very definite feeling

that words were cheap. I felt cexrtain that he would-go-back—on—hie——
assurances and as soon as he did I would resign immediately. To my
surprise he never did, 1 never had as complete backing from a

superior as I had from Louis Johngon even though some of my proposed

actions were completely at odds with the administration policies.,

Page determined to ba Unclassified
Reviewad Chief, RDD, WHE
1AW EC 13628, Section 3.5

; paie: SFP 17 21




Fage determined to be Unclassified
Reviewed Chief. RDD, WHS
IAW EO 135286, Section 3.5 73,

Date; arp ]7 2003
The day before Forrestal retired I had a matter that I had

to clear with the Secretary of lefense. I hated to bother Forrestal
because I knew how tired and distraught he was, and that he would
.retire the nﬁxt day. The matter needed prompt attention, however,
and I knew Johnson wouldn't become familiar with it for a week or
80, 80 I told Kate Foley I had to see "the boss" promptly.

I put my question to Forrestal, His mind wandered, I brought
him back to it, he wandered again gsking my opinion of several of
his past actions. Repeatedly I brought him back to the question but
no answer., Finally i sald "Jim, why don't we do it this way,”

"A1l right, Don" he said and I had my answer. But what a tragedy.

m

This was the man who a year before had been keen, quick and decisgive,

‘__.-"'-— 3 -
who had given me twelve answers in as many ninutes or less., KNow ir

.

. twenty minutes he couldn't answer one question. His loyalty, his

devotion,to duty, his strife with several jéalous agencies, his

- apprehensions and his persecution by too many of his assoclates
had resulted in the undermining of the ﬁealth of on§ of Americ&'s
finept public servants.,

The next day Johnson was sworn into office with great fanfare.
Forrestal appeared dazed, After the ceremony he wandered back ta his
office, realized it was no longer his so he went to the Mall entrance
for his car. It was not there. It happened that my driver was

there with my car and he took Forrestal'home where lFerd Fherstadt

—persuaded-hin to go-at-once to Florida and arranged for Nr, William
Menninger to attend him,
A few days later lorrestal returned to Washington to enter the
Bethaada Hospltal. Soon afterward he jumped from a window to his
death and I understand the Navy immediately urged Mrs. l'orrestal

to sign a paper absolving the Navy of any responsibility.
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He was gone, the Navy, in ny opinion, had been largely

responsible for gndermining his health and after he was sick the
Navy was extremely lax in his treatment.

The Hoover Commission had been set up by the President and
ﬁy Congress to investigate the executive branch of the government
to eliminate duplications, to increase efficiency, and reduce
expenditures. A "task force" of this commission headed by
Ferdinand Eberstadt was to concentrate its attention on the
Military Establishment. _

In my position as Chairman of the Military Liaison Committee
I was called to appear before the task force to describe the aper-
ations of the Committiee and answer questions,

As Chairman of the Munitions Board I was asked to appear
before them again and had ffequent confefences with Ferd Eberstadt.
I undergtand that the task force was very well satisfied with the
steﬁs I had taken and the method of operation.

Frank Leslie was designated by Forrestal to handle the contacts
of the Military Establishment with the Hoover Commission. I became
quite well acquainted with him and have seen him on several vccasions
since. In fact, when Eigenhower became President, Leslie without
my knowledge recommended me for a government assignment,

One morning at War Council meeting, Secretary Johnscn said
he was going to recommend to the President that I be appointed

" chairman of the National Security Resources Board to take the post

left vacant by Arthur Hill's resignation. He asked the opinion
of the members -- Service Secretaries, Military Chiefs and Doard
Chairmen. They all expressed their approval. I had completely
last my voice having strained it speaking at an annual convention

of very gay mining engineers and couldn't say anything.
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Immediately after the meeting I sent Johnson a note stating

‘.r\ 2] gincerely and honestly do nni wiah to he drafted." He didn’t'
- nake the recommendation and asked me why I felt that way.

I later told him that I was eager to return to industry and
although the proposed position had high prestige still it would not
work becmuse reporting directly te the President I couldn't be as
nutspoken againat his policies as I could when reporting to a
Secretary. Johnson agreed and the matter was dropped,

John Steelman was appointed and nothing was accomplished,
in fact many of the good men of the National Securlty Resources
Board resigned, Some time later Symington was appointed and used
it to gain much personal publicity.

The *Marshall Plan", later to be called European Recovery
Program (ERP) and later Ecnnomic Cooperation Adninistration (ECA)

.\ " called for financial assistance in the rehabilitatign 7f foreign
countries. The quastion then arose as to what assiétance.of a
military nature might be advisable, particularly since the Soviets
had demonstrated hostility. The question was being considered as
to how much aid we should give, in what form, and for how long.

The Munitions Board sent a representative to Europe to =it
in on discussions of these problems, Bafore going I gave hinm

instructions in very general terms. I drew him the following chart.

- T r'.r"--—--=-——l

Page determinad to be Unclassified KN / ‘| i
Reviewad Chisf, RDD, WHS E . ; :

1AW EO 13526, Secti%ﬁ.ﬁ | , ) :

Date SEP 17 ~ d

m -y
LA S A S A B M
Years
.\ The solld line represented the growth of the military effort

of the country, increasing over a period of may six yvears to the

point where the country's economy would carry it on 2 more or less
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permanent basis. The dotted line would represent the military effort

of the country bolstered by United States aid. It would reach the
‘same maximum, but in two years rather than six, Thus we might
contribute an increasing amount for two years, then a decreasing
amount for four years reaching zers at that time. The figures
would depend upon the conditions in each country. That was the
general policy which our representative was to take to the meetings.
I never heard the results because I left Washingten before the pro-
gram was crystallized.

Several pears later I was asked if I would accept appointment
ag head of a sort of Munitions Hoard of Burope to handle the logistics
of the military build up of the North Atlantic Treaty organization.
It was not a very definite requesi and I indicated that I was not
very interested. I f'elt that such an assignment wnuld be extremely
diffigult due to language problems and inter-country jealousies.
Furihermore I felt I had done "my bit",

On several occaslons I was invited to attend the meetings of
the Bu;iness Advisory Council of the uepartment of Commerce. On one
of these Louise went with me to llot Springs for a weekend meeting.

I discussed with the Committee and with individual members
our thoughts on the néed of men from industry, our policies on
renegotiation and on education for economy, 7They were very intera
.ested and helpful. On the matter of manpower they appointed a

committee to work with me but without much tangible result.

¥hen Johnson first went in as Secretary of Defense the Navy
put on a briefing for him on the subject of "war at three o'clonck
in the morning." Johnson asked me to attend the briefing with
him, The room was full of naval officers of all ranks, the

meeting was opened by Assistant Secretary Loehler and the mstatements
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were made in meticulous fashion by naval of ficers mostly of
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cormander or captain rank, each speaking on a separate subject
for about five minutes. Subjects such as manpower, shipyard
capacity, steel, power equipment, eti., were handled. It was
done in an excellent fashion and was most impressive.

After the first two or three presentations had been made
Johnson asked me in a whigper what I thought of it, I told him
I thought it unrealistic. Later he asked me again and I told hinm
there was not that much manpower and steel available if the other
two services were to be activated simultaneously. So Johnson
spoke up saying "Mr. Secretary, you are wasting your time and
my time as your presentatlon is unrealistic because there are
three servicea to be served and there won't be enough manpower
and supplies available to satisfy your stated requirements,
nevertheless you may proceed if you wish., Agsistant Secretory
Koehler said he would prefer to stop, "Very well," said Johnson,
*"I'd be glad to listen to it again but please ciear it with the
Chairman of the Munitions Board before you give it." lNever had
the Munitions Board received such backing. After that our progranms
were more carefully observed by all services, particularly the Navy.

It was proposed that we endeavor to standardize on all "non-
uniform" clothing and “isgue®, It was felt that if 211 1ltems
were placed on display and if a committes of high ranking officers

from each service was asked to make their recommendations we could

make considerable progress. The program was advanced by Gordon Gray.
ilats, Jackets, breaches, shoes, blankets, cots and all manner

of items were laid out in a nearby quartermaster Depot. Bq clothing

items which represented the unfform of the serviceswere included

but only the clothing used on "fatigue duty." It was amazing to
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see how many different types of work caps were being used, and

-

different kinds of shoes and it seemed there was a great excess of
every itenm.

The Committee reviewed and recommended a substantial reduction
in the numbef of items and then it was up to the Hunitions Board to

approve, L was pleased with the progress made but was not satisiied

"in two respects. First the Marine Corps had taken what seemed to me

a very selfish and unreasonable attitude in refusing to standardize
wmany of their itemes. Second, there were no cost estimates to indicate
whether the Committee proposed to standardize on the least expensive
or the moast expensivegitem or some intermediary. Without this inform-

ation we couldn't possibly tell whether the recommendations would

reprasent economies or not. There was great protest that such costs

could not be ascertained., I recall stating that in my opinior

one experienced man from a company such as Sears Roebuck couls’ do

the job in a week. We later got the information and the matter was

concluded with but partial benefits. 1 had the definite feeling

here that{ the assistance of a competent-civilian in one of the

Board jobs would be a great assistance and that with his help we

could adopt similar procedures on many different classes of supplies.

But we couldn't get the man and the job fell far short of our desires.
In preparation for the fiscal 1950 budgets the Joint Chiefs of

Staff appointed a committee of three high ranking officers, one

representing each service, to work up a combined military budget.

When—they-were—ready—toreport Forrestal asked-me. to_attend the
report mecting with him,

The report was given as to what action could be taken with a
budget limitation of $14 billion, hut that a realistic appraisal
would indicate a budget of over $17 billion, It was apparent that
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a great deal of work had gone into this calculation., It also

‘l'm, seemed to me that the President must have set a top 1imit of $14
- billion on the budget.

Walking back to our offices, Forrestal said it was a pity the
nilitary officera weren't thinking constantly of economy rather
than just at budget time. He asked me if I couldn't devise some
plan to provide for more thoughts of economy. I told him that
although he wae asking not only for a program but for a "way of
1ife™ I would think it over and report to him in two weeks.

I did a lot of thinking on the subject. It seemed obvious
that the Military couldn't be driven into economy, they should be
trained to want it, They sﬁould vant it not for any genersl reason
but for yreasons of national security, for that was their primary
interest. They should have all possible incentives to achieve

‘IIR. ‘sconony. Too frequently a man receives criticism rather than

credit for economizing. Mention of steps toward economy should

be of great importance on the individual efficlency record of esach
officer, They should in short he taughf what is economy, why is 1t
important to national security, how can it be attained and how can
we céeate an atmosphere in which it will thrive., This teaching
should be given in the formal schools such as West Foint, Annapolis
and Leavenworth and also in all training programs, and in additlion
training similar to industry's'bob Ingtruction Training’programs

. ghould be instituted. I thought a committee of four should be

got_up, oneto ba a-nmenber of the Munitions - Board-who would be

chairmﬁn, and one from each service, This committee should "spark
‘\ . plug® the training program, .
I presented these thoughts to Forrestal at a dinner he arranged
at which Al Guenthsr, Bill Draper, Ferd Eberstadt, and Biil HcNeil
were present. They approved in principle if I ¢ould sell it to the

oottt s i
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three services, 1 did, but with the understanding that the Muntions
Board would get ite man first and then hg would work with the ser-
vices in appointing their candidates.

Thig was logical and I drew up 3 directive for Forrestal's
signature, He signed and I started to find my man, It seemed to
me-to be a chance in a lifetime to start something really fundamental
which over the years would save the country billions of dollars.

It rlso would be a job which some industrial engineer would be de-
l1ighted to accept, The prestige of such a position would be out-
standing, But no, it didn't work that way. Man after man turned
it down., There wasn't one who didn't say it was an excellent plan,
in_fact many said it was the beat they had ever heard of, but thcy
couldn't take the post.

Weeks went by with no acceptance., Finally with great reluctance
I wrote another directive withdrawing the program and asked JYohnson
to sign 1t, He was amazed but signed it. Lack of civilian underw-
standing and cooperation really hurt that time. Sevarﬁl manths
after X left Washington the head of a well-known management engineering
firm phoned me asking 1if Y would recommend his company to the Air
Forcé to help on some cost reduction activities. Ha went into
great ilength to tell me how important it was, I asked him why he
felt it was so important now and when I had urged him to help in
a nmuch bigger manner previously he had flatly refused. Ho got the
point and said he guessed I was right.

In addition to my duties as Chairman of the Munitions Board,

Forrestal, and later Johnson, called upon me to act as their deputy
to carry out geveral specific activities. One of these came as a

directive from Forrestal requesting me to submit to him a 1ist of

public works projects falling within the mnilitary budget., They
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were to be arranged in order of their importance to National ;
Defense regardless of the service advocating them., I told Forrestal

this was certalnly going to win the popularity contest for me for

there are few matters which the services fight for more aggressively

than their schools, warehouses, harbors, plers and airports,

There were about $8 billion of projects under consideration,

Forrestal had asked for a 1ist totaling about $600 million, Ve

could have asked the Munitions Board staff to review and recommend
them but I knew 1f we dld we would have a gsevere battle hoth in the
initinl gtudy and later in the bureau nf the budget and in the

Congressinonal committees because no service would be satisfied and

eagh would do all it could to include nmore of 1ts projects. So I

decided against that approach and thought I would try one which
had worked well in the Military Liaison Committee,

Each military chief was aslked to deslgnate a high rankire

of ficer to act as my advisor, ILt, General Aurand was desigr ted

by the Army, Lt. General "Pinky"® Crﬁig by the Air Force, and Rear

Admiral Ieeland by the Navy. I suggested that rather than asking

wach officer tn represent his service we should assign a type of

project for ecach to sponsor for all thres gservices. Thus Aurand

would list all housing projects for all three services, Keeland

was to List all Zone of Interior operational prajects and General

Craig all overseas projects. The research and develapment projects

would be submitted by the Research and Development Doard. We dee

VT —

#

cided to allocate approximately equal amounts tn all of the categories
with the provision that each list would include a L0% excess so that
we could determine whather some of the excess of one 1list might

be more important than the bottom projoct on some other list.
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A Colonel was designated to assist in the arrangements and

particularly to report to me in the event there was any "back
scratching® where one member made a deal with another. It was
understood that each of the three officers could conduct hearings
iqhgay way hé wished and could prepare his list any way he wanted,

He coéﬁd, if he wanted; list all his own service projects at the

top of the list, hut no lists would be approved until all three

of ficers reported jointly to me and each would have the opportunity

to comment on each other's list, So if there were to be any chigeling
there would be smple disclosure of i1t,

It started off and was regarded as mn interestinp experiment.
Each of ficer held many meetings and worked hard on his lists.
Several times I was called in for consultation -- many times it
was a case of the Marines fighting for one of their projects and
refusing tn accept the determination of the officer handling the
listing. I got very fed up with the Marines.

At nne time the Colonel tipped'me pff that one of the afficers
was baigg criticized by his superiors for not pushing harder for
thei? particular projeotsvﬂw: invited the military chief of that
service for lunch and told jhow well his reprasentative was per=
forning «- that did it, we never had any more trouble of that kind,

When the lists were submitted there was complete agreement on
987 of the items, The last 2% they asked me to rule on -- they
pertained to housing in Adak in the Aleutians versusz houaing at

|

some_other locations. I thought of a sergeant and his family

living a winter in a beaten up Quonset hut on the rocky and wind
swept shores of Adak and ruled to provide him with a suitable house.
The mést gserlious queation of the Research and Development

projects was the extent of the radar screen, It was 2 matter for
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Joint Chiefs of Staff decision =n I asked them to advise the

extent of the installation thevy cansidered necessary. It was a

‘!\
. difficult determination as a complete installation would have bBeen

very expsnsive,
Finally the repart was prepared, the projects 1listed in order

of importance to the National securlty as it appeared to us. When
I presanted it to Forrestal I could see hinm sigh in a resigned sort

of way thinking this would invite another inter-gervice fight so

I suggested he look at the last page., On that page all the service

secretaries had indicated their approval of the lists,
't belleve It -~ to have a comhined repart

Farreatal

was amnazed -~ he couldn
submitted to him which had tri-service approval,

When the report went to the bureav of the budget they assign-d

some of thelr investigators. to look into it in detall, They blue

‘l‘\ pencilled many items, questioned others, critized the estimated
amounts on others and in general were prepared to upset the entire

program. The military nfficers wers very annoyed hecause thev had

tried so hard to be intelligent and fair in their investigation.

So I asked for a hearing with the budget, Y expected to mattend with

only-thc Colonel with we and was amazed to find twenty or thirty

fied

~§§§ I~ Benerals and Admirals in the room when I arrived. I explained to
g%g'gg the budget officials how the report had been prepared. I pointed
555& out that this was the firast tri-service report ever submitted, Ve
L3 couldn't vouch for the exactness of 21l the estimates hut thought

them reasonadbly accurate and if the Pureau of the Budpet wanted tn

check some of them we had no objections, but if they wanted to dig
deeply into the overall determinations they were welcome to the
‘I'\ entire job -~ we would wash our hande of it, They didn't, The

militery officers were surpriged and pleased with this outcoma

and the report of the *Carpenter Board" as it was called went to
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Congress. I lef't before it was acted upon and don't know how it’
.\ fared.
Another unusual task appearsd suddenly when Forrestal secretly
. flew to Europe leaving a group of civilians whom he had invited
for an "ordentation™ in the Military Establishment. It was a very
high ranking group of top industrlalists, publishers, mayors and
labor leaders. There they were, theilr programs had all been well
autlined by General Lutes but Forrestal, who was to greet them and
act as the host, was gone, 50 the job seenmed to come ny way and I
had a few busy days in Washingfon but also in Pengacola where they
visited the Naval operations. 7The main problem was to be certain
the fight between the Air Force and the Navy on ailr operations .
didn't become active in the presence of this'gfoup for sach seirvice

was burning to tell its story to any audience,

»

The Bureau of MHines of the Lepartment of Interior bad done
work on the extraction of oil fiom oil shale near Rifle;, Colorado.

The Union 0il Cumpany was interested in producing oil in this

3 nanner buf they figured the costs would be too hnigh to sell the
%‘?’%m‘ - praduct at current price 80 they asked if the Milltary Establishment
gig & would pay a premlum for some of its oll so the process could be

%%% 2 operated. If it were important to Nutional Defense it might have
gg% '}'; been a worthwhile move, but we could not see that 1t wasﬂlgggviﬁa
%%%% 0il supplies from Texas, Oklahoma, and from California, with the

new fields opening in Canada and promising exploration in Montana
+—————%ould-take-care—of enargoncy-requirsnsnts—so-uwo—deciined. There

was a great deal of talk about it but it was our feeling that if
‘\ it were desirable to demonstrats the feasibility of producing oil

from shale it should be done by some other ageacy, not nurs.
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Kap Erug, Secretary of Interior, suggested that a three man
Alaska Development Commission be formed to study the commerclal
possibilities of Alaska, to recommend to Congress such legisiation
as might be helpful and to try to persuade companies to operate
plants there. He suggested one member from the Department of
Commerce, onte from the Military Establishment, and one who would
be chairman from the Department of Interior. Forrestal asked me
to handle the matter. I thought well of the idea and af ter some
checking I recommended Horace McCurdy, President of the Puget
Sound Bridge and.Dredging Company of Seattle. I gave his name to
Krug as our member. A few weeks later Krug told me the Governor

of Alaska dldn't want anyone from Seattle as there wags some feeling

that Seattle looked upon Alaska as its province. I gained the
impression that the Governor of Alaska was ultra "New Dealish®,
thaE he knew McCurdy was a two-fisted business man who would"call
a spade a spade™ and that was the reason he didn't want him, so I

told Krug that we had no other candidate., If they really meant

businéas they would take McCurdy, if they didn't mean business we
didn*t want to be a party to it, The matter was dropped.

Steve Early was appointed Deputy Secretary of Defense onder
Johngon, Naturally I had heard of him for Years as an advisor to
Roosevelt. More recently he had been in industry frequently con-
tacting government officials. Johnson told ha that although

organizationally I should report to Barly still in practice he

hoped 1 would continue to report direct to him, It scemed a bit

confuged and I foresaw some difficulties, but they never arose,

I enjoyed working with Steve and recognized his wisdom and imsight
in handling episodes which involved the complications that existed

in the huge government organization.
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Jack Ohly was also very familiar with the ramifications of ‘é
.'\ governmental procedurs. Many matters which arose called for "coordinatio:
- with many other departments. A matter requiring our decision would,
~of coursae, rgqu:lre coordination and perhaps endorsement by the three
military services but also it might have to be coordinated with
European Recovery Program, State Department, Department of Interior
and Treasury or other agencies such as the National Security Resources _
Board or perhaps the National Security Council, Perhaps the Petroleum
Council might be involved or the Bureau of Hi:;:es and other agencies
would come to mind until action would seem imposgsible,
In this maze of complication I would frequently submit a proposed
program to Jack Ohly, one of Forrestal?!s three special assistants.
The others were Bill McNeil, who handled fiscal matters, and Marx
| Leva, who was legal advisor, Jack would study the proposed action
.\ 'for a day or so and then tell me the plan looked fine to him byt
_“Don',l "you oversimplify" he would say, and I would answer "Jack,

that is what this town needs." "I guess you're right”, he would

B
i%:&;wm reply.
ij%g % One time there was a question ahout the government seiling
| §§§ -~  some war surplus freighters. It had been understood that they
| gg% i could bg purchased by a foreign government if the rehabilitation
%’ggﬁ were handled In United States shipyards. This was done to keep
those companies alive for otherwlise they would have no shipbuilding
. * business due to the postwar excess of ships. Thig time a company
in n_mwgmm_xiahauo_huyJ.oma.ships_anMWhm—omh—*—
hauled in a foreign shipyard bacause the conditions at that location
l ‘ were desperate, The Maritime Commiassion opposed the acj:ion, the

Navy opposed it, the Department of Labor oppogsed it, the Army favored
1t because it was responsible for econonic affairs in that country.

S5teve Farly at one of his staff meetings brought up the matter and

. - Ll . - - . E Lo - - -
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the Hunitions Board lap as did most complicated problems that cut
across several departments,

I conducted hearings to "determine the issues® (a good Washington

practice), Then I conferred with Administrative Aide Sours who wag

secretary of the Security Council. It was to be discussed with the
President and I was to attend the Security Council meeting to presgent
it.

Then Steve Early came to my office to ask me if I had noticed
that certein menmbers of this for@ign firm were also representing
certain interests in the United States and had connecticns in
pretty high places in Weshington. Light dawned, it was a pretty
slick scheme. We refused the request promptly. There have been
several cases of questionable practices in this field that have
since been disclosed. I have Steve Early to thank fhat I didn't
‘become involved.

- Many industrialists, coming to Washington, feel that their
motives are being suspected and that their recommendations receive
little considerat{on. They don't like the manner im which they
ars passed onlfrou one agency to another, no one being interested
in ré§11y studying and acting upon the recommendation. Many such
industrialists are men of broad experience and responsib@lity who
resent being treated lightly by government personnel who they cone-
sider far junior in attaivments, They particularly resent it be-

. cauge their personel and business incomes and profits are being

taxed to support this cumbersome and unfriendly bureaucracy.

This situation is most regrettable . It seems to me that it
stemg from two major causes, first because experienced civiliane :
are not willing to contribute their services so the government
must hire whom it can, and second because a ynung man making a

career in government is subject to so many requests which he
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congiders selfish and contrary to the public interest, A politician
‘l’“ will ask speclal treatment in his comnmunity which will help his
. local standing but may be & waste of government funds., A labor
- leader nay threaten ropriisaIS'unleas the government takes some
* apparently unsound action, A manufacturer may insist on special
allocation of critical materials Just to enhance his own p:ofits.
Thus government officials have learned to be "on their guard" and
when & civilien comes to disbuss a nmatter with them, they of ten o
wonder what "axe he is grinding.® This becomes a habit, and fre.
quently prejudices them againat = perfectly sound program and is
one of the reasons why industrialists feel they get the "brush off®
in Washington. )
The miiitary officers have very high standards of ethics and
#ra & fine lot of men. I never realized how much time they gpend
‘I‘g ‘in‘schooling. One of the Lieutenant Generalsof the Army told me
| he had gpent more thaﬁ half of his life in attending schools. They
have the ailitary academy, then the War College, the Industrial

2 College, the Geneﬁgl Officers College, and many more. They are
-§%m axceptionall& well trained for their primary migsien. They are,
%g g r%hoﬂmevhrﬂ frequently criticized for their lack of training and
Egg ; axparience in other fields. I feel they over estimate their

§§§ & abllities in other lines of activitieg but all too frequently
!ﬁﬁééﬁ they musgt step in to verj izportant assignmenta because industrial

paople won't do it and someone must, ‘A Haanr General took charge

of the il&;é_hillinn_nnnihmaimgonannmani_planzsmnoxmbeeauﬁe~hﬁ~a¢ﬂr——*——"

80 well qualified but bacause we couldn't get anyone else. Hs did

a perfectly sound, safe job, but net an imaginative one,
In total I found the senior of ficers of the services to be

aplendid gen. I hope I can maintain contact with them,




@®-

Ex i

@

WHS

1

Page determined to ba Unclassified
i

Reviewed Chief, RDD,
1AW EO 13528, Sacti

Date;

tion 3.5
P17 am

. : 89.

A woeek or two beforae I left Washington the Naval officers
invited me to attend a farewell dinner for John Kenney who was

retiring ae Under Secretary of the Navy. Thig was strictly a
military affalr and I was about the only cicilian present. I sat
way down at the end of the table with Admirals Radford, John Tale
Price and Hort Ring. One of them, saying that I was %o leave
Washington in a few weeks, asked nme to tell them frankly what
'I‘thought of the Navy. ‘1 tried to avoid tha question, but they

ingisted so I told them, ™You folks think more of the Navy than

you do of the United States,” I said. I told them that if they

continued to defy the spirit of unification which was the law of
tha land and supported by the American Pe¢ople, they would sink
the MNavy.

The battle was on and we argued furiously for hours. When
1t subdsided we locked up and the dinner was over, practically
everybne had departed.

They are fine men, the Ravy did'a magnificent war job. Since
I left Washington ﬁany of those who battled unification in the Navy
have been removed from of fice or have mended thelr ways. Although
theré is atill plenty of "disunilication® 1t 1s understandable.
Institutions with over a century of traditions and with the high
éarvice morale and rivalry of the Army and N avy naturally find
difficulty in immediate unification. If Forrestal had insisted

on it at once there would have been many resignations of valuable

officers., It bas teken time bdut good progress is being made.

Q.

Drew Pearson is given credit for far more influence than he
deserves. Still his broadcasts are an item of importance in
Washington. What he says Sunday evening is almost always dis-

cusged at lunch Monday. He criticized me on four different

occasions.
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when I was first appointed Ly Forrestal to be his deputy on
atomic energy,l’carsom concocted a story that Forrestal had loaned
money to Hemington Arms, of which I was Vice President, Remingtén
then.nadc ammunition foédBolivia for the Chaco war, He inferred
that Fo:restﬁl and I were now getting together on some new kind of

questionable propesition.

Later Pearson warned tha'Senate 1o look well into my q&estion-

- . able record before confirming my appointment as Chairman of the

-Munitions Board. When I refused a job to an applicant for a
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position of handling Muntions Board publicity because he was un-
friendly to industry, Pearson bullt up a far-fetched story out of
1t., On each occasion my associates immediately told me ®*You've
joined the club® meaning the club of those hlasted by Pearson,

It interested me that although Pearson blasted me four times, on
each occasion none of my agsoclates remembered that he had ever
dono it before. I concluded from this that what Pearson says is
intently listensd to but is forgotten in a very few days., .

. After each Pearson blast I would get mail from friends and
from psople whom I had never met., It was very significant that I
neve} received one adverse letter. Most of them sald they had heard
the Pearson broadcast and hopad I would pay no attention to anyone
go unreliable, So I concluded that a b;ast by Pearson wag un=-
‘important and not unpleaaant.’

When Pearson advised the Senate not to confirm my appointment,

Judy asked me what I thought about it. I told her that would be

fine for then we could go home, Later Judy brought me an envelope
addressed to the President, White House, Washington, U.C, The
1etter'inaide read; "Daar:Prasident Truman, please tell the Senate
to send Daddy home fo Southport, Cénnncticut. I went to your

inauguration, I ate two hot dogs, Love Judy.,” It was quite a
jetter and the next dav she mailed it.
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‘.’~3 A few days later she recelved & reply "Dear” Judy, Fresident
Truman asked me to thank you for your friendly letter and sends you
his kindest regards." She sald she was going to fyame it.

Later at a dinner for Forrestal I told Truman of it. Hs was
delighted and asked we if I would send him the letter Judy had
written. I told him I couldn't as 1t was in hls files not mine.

He turned to his Assistant, John Steeluan, and said, "Damn it all,
John, I've been telling jou not to open ﬁy mail,

As time went on the work 1ﬁcreased. We were being calied upen
for more services, It was gratifying, but exhavsting., We were being
called upon partislly, at least, because we were a civilian agency
and could handle problems with a civilian vieswpolint., At the rane
time, however, we couldn't get the kind of civilian help we wanted,

p

" so the pacé for the few clvilians occuping important civillan
positione became prefty stiff. My office hours ran from 0 to 6:30,
sometimes 7 or 8. irequently I would leave at 4:00, take a pléne
to New York, Pittégurgh, or perhaps Chicago to dellver a speech

be Unclassifie

) RDD, WHS

to a group, then fly back home to Waghington that night. Ahaut
twice a week I would be up at 5:30 A.X. fo go over matters wilah

I had been unable to concentrate on due to interruptions. When

Page determined to
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¥ we finally left Washington I was more tired than I realized.
Word came that I should be in Secretary Louls Johnson's office

at 11:00 A M. on 24 June 1948, I suspected something was afont

in-ay. behalf but wasn't sure. When I reported in the Secretary's

office I was surprised to find it filled with officers and clvilians

whom I had known in my one and a third years in Washington.

®




92,

Secratary Johnson awarded ne the certificate of appreciatiog
for EXCEPTIONAL CIVILYAN SERVICE and read a very flattering citaéion.
General Guenther then read a commendatory resolation passed by the
_ War Council and signed by all its members and many of ite close
aésooiates. A sound recording on a record and a movie were nade
lof-the affair and given to me, Louise and Judy, then age 10, were
with me to share my pleasure ir this unexpected recognition of my
tour in govermment. Judy bugied heraself petting signatures from
"‘many of those present. ¥ didn't realize it until ehe showed me
" several sheets of paper filled with autographs of some of the
highest ranking military and civillan officlals.

The Xunitions Board members presgented me with a priated copy
of a regsolution of the boarg commenting on my services and the
Hilitery Liaison Committee had doneg the cane.

~ Eresident Trumau'gent me his picture inscribed to me and a

very flattering letter. Secretary Joﬁnson d4d the same as Secretary
Forrastal had doné before he retired.

At the Pyesident's request, Louise, Judy and I called upon
him to receive his personal congratulations and farewell. .

When I first decided to po to Washington I felt that there would
be no pleasure and much fruetration and criticism resulting therefrom.
As it turned out I had but little frustration, very 2ittle criticism,
and more praise than 1 deeerved, My apprehensions had been ill-founded.

My tour in Weshington had been a year and a third of accomplisghment,

extremely hard work, and with substantial personal satisfaction.
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(A0 . - o . THE WHITE HOUSE.
RPN S o ' WASHINGTON

June 22, 1949

A
e

F+

"fbearfﬁr. Carpenters

o "1 have your letter of April 30, 1948 submit.
“ting your resignation as Chairman of the Munitions
Board, to be effective not later than June 30, 1849,
As you know, I accept this resignation with the great-
est of reluctance and do so only because of the coma-
- ‘pelling personal considerations of which you advised
ne,
R Y - As Chairman of the Munitions Board, and pre-
T R R My ously as the Chairman of the Military Liaison Come
- ; “mittee to the Atomic Energy Commission, you have done
‘I’ an cutstanding job in strengthening the National Mil-
itary Establishment and in furthering our national
- =~gecurity. Under your direction, a close working re-
- 1ationship was established between the National Nil-.
itary Establishment and the Atomic Energy Commission,
~ . and great strides were made in the progress of indus-
iy i-trdal mobilization planning and in the coordination
‘" " of procurement matters in the Armed Services., - )

You are to be congratulated not oniy for the
large number of concrete accomplishments for which
_yau are responsible, bui also for your public spirit
and your sense of duty in accepting these posts at
personal sacrifice and in repeatedly, at my request,
extending your services far beyond the date when you

had anticipated returning to privats life.

Yery sincerely yours,

/s8/ Barry S, Truman

.‘." HHTE Y Honorable Donald: F.” Carpenter,
' Chairman, ‘
HMunitions Board,
Pentagon Building,
Washington, D.C.
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) ‘g,-:l'}’.'ﬁa{" ekt . Lo v e
AT peap Dont T e
L n " It is with regret that I accept your resignation
as my Deputy for Atomic Energy Matters, as Chairman of
the Military Liaison Committee to the Atomic Energy Com-
mission, and ag the representative of the National Mil.
itary Establishment on the other related agencies which
‘'you mention in your letter. My regret would be much
greater if I did not look forward with such anticipation
- to working with you as Chailrman of the Munitions Board
wmﬁmﬂwgmﬁﬁ%;ndiif'l-did-not.share‘your own confidence in- the ability
A T Ve M, Webster to carry on this work in an excellent

.\- o fashion,
o, I am sure you know how grateful T am for the work
“you have done and for your willingness to stay on in a
: new capacity. There is no need to list the major accom-
. . plishments for which you have been responsible not only
7 in the field of atomic energy but also in the many other
o areas in which I have sought your advice, These are mat.
... . ters of common knowledge, both within and without the
" .,  National Military Establishment. I think I need say no
"more than that I am deeply appreciative,

Lt g
et .

Sincerely yours,

/8/ James Forrestal

- JMp. Dopald-Fr-Carpenter
" 'Room 8B 740 ‘ :
Pentagon Building

.ﬂgﬁrrﬁni-m—fw*wwr.; EN T
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. 0 - WESTERN UNION

NCU (Columbia University)
NEW YORK, N.,Y.
JUNE 24, 1949

HOHORABI.E DON CARPENTER
MUNITIONS BOARD PENTAGON BLDG=

DEAR DOR I LEARNED THAT TOMORROW YOU ARE TO TERMINATE

W-“,YOUR\PRESENT TQUR OF GOVERNEEKT SERVICE., I AH.QUITE

WELL A¥WARE THAT IT KAS HEANT MUCH TO YOU IN TER}IS oF

PERSONAL SACRIFPICE TO CARRY 0UT 'i‘HE DUTIES ASSIGNED YOU

DURING THESE PAST MONTHS IN WASHINGTON, BUT I TRULY HOPE
THAT THE SATISFACTION OF HAVING DONE A GOOD JOB, OF HAVING

 SERVED YOUR COUNTRY WELL IN A VERY CRITICAL POST WILL FAR
"' MORE THAN COMPENSATE FOR ANY MATERIAL SACRIFICES, NO
| MATTER HOW GREAT THEY NAY BE. TO THIS I ADD ONLY THAT

YOU WILL ALWAYS HAVE MY ADMIRATION AND RESPECT FOR THE

GREAT TALENTS YOU HAVE DEVOTED TO A MOST INTRICATE,

DIFFICULT AND IMPORTANT TASK, AND FOR THE LOYALTY AND
DEVOTION THAT HAVE CHARACTERIZED YOUR WORK. WITH AFFECTIONATE

REGARD= ‘ )

"IKE EISENHOWER.-
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by the
MILITARY LIAISON COMMITTEE
to the
ATOMYIC ENERGY COMMISSION

WHEREAS, Donald F, Carpenter served as the Chairman of
the Kilitary Liaisen Committee from April 6, 1948 to September
21, 19483 and

WHEREAS, during this period the Committee undertook new

and much larger responsibilities consequent to a new charter;
and

WHEREAS, new and greatly improved relations wers estab-
lished with the Atomic Energy Commission, its gtaff and its
operating agencies in the field; and

WHEREAS, in sum total the Military Liaison Committee
~ became during this period a far more effective activity of
the National Military Establishment and ajlded materially in

contributing to an improved program in the atomic energy
fleld; and

. WHEREAS, these successful results were in large measure,
the direct result of the initiative, wise counsel, and able
leadership of the sald Danald P, Carpenter; be it

RESOLVED by the Members of the Military Liaison Committee
that they express their warm and sincere appreciation of the
outstanding work of the said Donaid F, Carpenter in the cause

of nmational defense by presenting him with this resolution
signed by all the Members,

ARMY NAVY AIR FORCE
/8/ K. D. Nichols /8/ R, A, Ofatie /8/ D. ¥, Schlatter
Hajor General, USA  Rear Admiral, USN Major General, USAF
/a/ J. H. Hinds /s/ W, S, Parsons /s/ R. C. Wilson

Colonel, F.A. Rear Admiral, USN Brigadier General,USAF




P deiwimmed to be Unclassified
Toviewed Chisf, RDD, WHS
IAW EQO 13528, Section 3.5

.-.A\ Date;
. SEP 17 20

THE SECRETARY OF DEFENSE
WASHINGION

CITATION TO ACCOMPANY THE AWARD OF THE
FATIONAL MYLITARY ESTABLISHMENT
CERTIFICATE OF APPRECIATION
T0
DONALD F. CARPERTER

DONALD F. CARPENTER, for exceptionally meritoriocus
gervice to the National Military Establishnent from Aprii 8, 1848,
@.  to June 24, 1949, At the request of the Secretary of Defense, Mr.
’ Carpgnter left his civilian occupation to assume the Chairmanship
of the Military Liaison Committeo to the Atomic Energy Commission.
In fhis capacity, Mr. Carpenter demonstrated unusual tact and
ability in developing military atomic energy programs and under
his guldance and direction military atomic energy activities were
materially furthered, 1In September, 1948, Mr, Carpenter was ap-
pointed by the President to serve as Chalrman of the Munitionrs
Board. Faced with unprecadentéd problems in supply, distribution,

storage and procurement, Mr. Carpenter showed remarkable initiative

-

and zeal in directing comprehensive studies and developing effective

solutions., His service to the government is deserving of the highest

praise,

.

A

LOUYS JOHNSON
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RESOLUTION of the WAR COUNCIL

NATIONAL MILITARY ESTABLISHMENT

WHEREAS Donald F. Carpenter has served the National Military
Establishment faithfully and brilliantly from 8 April 18948 to
30 June 1949; First as Chairman of the Military Liaison Committee
until 21 September 1948 and later as Chailrman of the Hunitions
Board until 30 June 19493 and

WHEREAS in his cmpacity as the first civiilian Chairman of the

. Military Liaison Committee he organized an effective agency for the
coordination of atomic energy matters within the Military Establish-

ment, established a sound and conmprehensive program covering the

military aspects of atomic energy, and materially assisted in the

development of close and harmonious relationships between the

Atomic Energy Commission and the Armed Servicesj and

WHEREAS in the role of Chairman of the Munitions Board, he
"has made major contributions toward a more efficient and unified
Military Establishment and has greatly advanced the state of our
materiel readiness for any national emergency; and

WHEREAS the Munitions Board, under his capable leadership, has
made trémendous strides toward the fulfiliment of the missions as-
sighed to 1t by the National Security Act, including the planning of
the military aspects of industrialiijmobilization and coordination and

improvemaent of frocﬁrement and reiated activities within the National
Military Establishment; and

WHEREAS in the capacity of a deputy to the Secretary of Defense
during this entire period, he has performed a great variety of spec-

ial and difficult agsignments with extreme competence and dispatch;
and

WHEREAS his wisdom, judgment and patience in the performance of
all of these roles; have furthered the objectives of unification and
strengthened the security of this nation; and '

WIEREAS the qualities of his character and perscnality have won
the lasting friendship, respect and affection of all those who have
. Wworked with him in the National Military Establishment; -

aymn

’ seEafiigd

the War Councll and other associates of Donald F. Carpenter in the
National Military Establishment, express our appreciation for his
faithful and outstanding services and for the wisdom, energy, loy-
alty and devotion to duty which he brought to his work; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that we the undersigned desire to indi-
cate our deep regret that circumstances compel his return to pri-
vate life and wish him Godspeed wherever he may goj and
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BE IT PURTHER RESOLVED that a copy of this Resolution be made
a part of the permanent records of the War Council of the National
Military Establishment and that a copy thereof be presented to
Donald ¥, Carpenter -

LOUYIS JOINSON
Secretary of Defense

GORDON GRAY FRANCIS P, MATTHEWS STEPHEN T, EARLY
Secretary of the Army  Secretary of the Navy Undsr-Secretary of
Dafense
OMAR N, BRADLEY LOUTIS DENFELD JOSEPH T, MCNARNEY
Chief of Staff Admiral-Chief of General - Office of
U, S. Army Naval Operations the Secretary of
: ’ Defenge

STUART SYMINGTON HOYT B, VANDENBERG DWIGHT D, EISENHOWER
Secretary of the Chief of Staff Chairman « Joint
Alr Force U. 8. Air Force Chiefs of Staff
KARL, T, COMPTON THOMAS R, REID JOHN SHERMAN
Chairman-The Research Chairman-Personnel Secretary of the

and Development Policy Board War Council

Board ' .
MARX LEVA JOIN A, OHLY W, J. McNeil
Specinl Assigtant to Spacial Assistant to Special Assistant to
the Secretary of the Secretary of the Sacretary of
Defense Defense Defense

[

ALFRED M, GRUENTHER .
General - Director of the Joint Staffs,
National Military Establishment

1 JULY 1949




FUTURE” RELEASE PLEASE NOTE DATE

NATIONAL MILITARY FSTABLISHMENT
. OFFICE OF PUBLIC INFORMATION
."‘"s Washington 25, D.C.

- MEMORANDUM TO THE PRESS1 ¥O. H.187.49

HOLD FOR RELEASB
UNTIL PRESENTATICN
AT 11:30 A M., FRIDAY, JUNE 24, 1949 RE 6700 Ext., 3201.8202

DONALD F. CARPENTER AWARLED
¥ME APPRECTATION CERTIFICATE

Secretary of Defense Louis Johnson today presented the National
Military Establishment Certificate of Appreciation to Donald F, Care
penter, retiring Chairman of the Munitions Board.

_ Secretary Johnson cited Mr, Carpenter for "exceptionally meritorious
; gervice to the National Military Establishment® for his work both as
Chairman of the Military ldaison Committee to the Atomic Energy Commis-
sion and as Chairman of the Munitions Board, The Secretary stated that,
under Mr. Carpenter's guidance, military atomic energy activities were
materially furthered, He alisa poiacd out that Mr. Carpenter was faced
with unprecedented problems in his pesition as Chairman of the Muni-
tions Board and showed "remarkable initiative and zeal in directing
comprehensive studies and developing effective solutiens.™

.x ' The Certificate of Appreciaticn was presented to Mr, Carpenter in
Secretary Johnson's office in the presence of officials of the Miljw

tary ‘Bftablishment and other agencies, members of Congress and other
invited guests,

Mr, Carpenter is leaving today to return to the E, I. du Pont de

Nemours & Company, Inc,, from which he has been on leave of absence
since April 1948,

The citation stated:

*honald F. Carpenter, for exceptionally meritorious service to the
National Military Establishment from April 8, 1948 to June 24, 1549, At
the request of the Secretary of Defense, Mr, Carpenter Is ft his civilian
occupation to assume the Chairmanship of the Military Liaisor Committee-
to the Atomic Energy Commission., In this capacity, Nr. Carpenter de-
monstrated unusual tact and ability in developing military atomlc en-
ergy programs and under his guidance and direction military atomic en-
ergy activities were materially furthered, In September, 1948, Mr.
Carpenter was appointed by the Pregident io serve as Chairman of the

ne-Board,—Facad with un ed problems in supply, distribu-
tion, storage and procurement, Mr, Carpenter showed remarkable InITIaTive
and zeal in directing comprehensive studies and developing aeffective sol-
utions, His service tn the government is deserving of the highest

N Praise : tage determined 10 be Unclassified
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Mrs. Donald F, Carpenter and daughter Judy
Secretary of the Treasury John W, Snyder
Secretary of Interior Julius A. Krug
Secretary of Commerce Charles Sawyer
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NHE APPRECIATION CERTIFICATE

"

Secretary of the Army Gordon Gray
Secretary of the Navy Francis P, Hatthews
‘.ﬁf?\ Secretary of the Air Force W, Stuart Symington
4  Gemator Millard E, Tydings, Chairman, Senate Armed Services Committes
e Representative Carl Vinson, Chairman, House Armed Services Committee
Dr. John R. Steelman, Assistant to the President
Frank Pace, Jr,., Director, Bureau of the Budget
Paul G, Hoffman, Administrator, Economic Cooperation Administration
Thomas B. McCabe, Chairman, Federal Regerve System
Under Secretary of State James E, Webb
Under Sacretary of Defense Stephen T, Early
Under Secretary of the Navy Dan A, Kimball
Under Secretary of the Air Force Arthur S. Barrows
. Agsistant Secretary of the Army Tracy S. Voorhees
. Agsistant Secretary of the Navy John T. Koehler
: Assistant Secretary of the Air Force Bugene M. Zuckert
General Dwight D. Eisenhower,; Acting Chairman, Joint Chiefs of Staff
General Omar N, Bradley, Chief of Staff, United States Army
Admiral Louis E. Denfeld, Chief of Naval Operations, United States davy
General Hoyt S, Vandenberg, Chief of Staff, United States Force
Thomas R. Reid, Chailrman, Personnel Policy Board
Dr, Karl T. Compton, Chairman Research and Development Board
Dr. Vannevar Bush, Former Chairman, Research and Development Board
Admiral Lewis L. §trauaa, Atomic Energy Commission
General Joseph T. McNarney, USAF, Advisor to Secretary of Defense
Lt.General John E, Hull, Director, Weapons System Evaluation Group.
_ Lt.GCeneral LeRoy Lutes, Director of Staff, Manitions Board
..u,' Major Ceneral Alfred M, Gruenther, Pirector, The Joint Staff
h Major General Leven C, Allen, Executive Secretary, 0ffice of Secretryr
Ma jor General Sidney P, Spalding of Defersa
Major Genmeral Patrick W, Timberlake
¥ajor General Kemneth D. Nicholc
¥ajor General David M. Schlatter .
Brigadler General R. C, Wilson
Rear Admiral Francis C, Denebrink
Rear Admiral Ralph A, Ofatie
Rear Admiral Tom B, Hill '
Colonél Paul H, Griffith, Assistant to the Secretary of Defense

Colonel Louis H. Renfrow, Assistant to the Secretary of Defense
Colonel John H Hinds

Colonel Robert Wood

Captain Herbert D, Riley, USN, Aide to the Secretary of Defens:

Captain Laurence A, Abercrombie,USN, Assistant to the Secretary of Lefeu:
Captain F, B, Hyde, USN

Marx Leva, Assistant to t he Secretary of Defense

John B, Ohly, Assistant to the Secretary of lefense

W, J. McNeil, Assistant to the Secretary of Defense

William Frye%hﬁssistant to the Secretary of Dafense

Ward Canaday
Elliot Cpssidy
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